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Introduction 
Welcome to the Annual Report for 2016/17 of NHS North Durham CCG.  2016/17 was the 
CCG’s fourth year of operation, having been established in April 2013.  We are a group of 31 
GP practices responsible for commissioning (planning and buying) a wide range of health care 
services across our diverse communities of North Durham.   
 
This report provides an overview of the CCG, a performance analysis of how we have 
performed, a corporate governance report that includes a members’ report about our 
committees and a governance statement.  It also includes our financial statements which show 
that we have managed our resources efficiently throughout the year.    
 
Within the performance overview is an outline of the work we have undertaken within each of 
our clinical priority areas.  Some of our successes and highlights this year have included 
developing a new model of care for those who have diabetes, driving forward the children and 
young people’s mental health agenda, implementing our local Dementia Strategy, developing 
primary care taking into account the publication of the NHS General Practice Five Year 
Forward View and investing in the production of clinical support information (CSI) developed by 
our GPs working in partnership with local secondary care clinicians.  More detail about this is 
provided in the section about key activities. 
 
We are committed to involving patients and the public in our work and have continued to 
organise regular public events where local residents and patients can meet members of the 
CCG and give their views about local services.  These have included two Patient Congress 
events, monthly ‘focus groups’ and ‘drop-in’ sessions and a programme of ‘out-reach’ 
sessions.  We have continued to run our MyNHS membership scheme which provides 
information about the work that we do and opportunities to get involved in the work of the CCG.   
More information about how you can get involved in our work is available on our website 
www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk   
 
Throughout 2016/17 we have continued to work closely with our partners including other health 
care providers such as hospital trusts and other CCGs, Durham County Council, Healthwatch 
and organisations from the community and voluntary sector.   
 
During the year as part of strategic work undertaken with other health organisations it became 
clear that the patient flows for North Durham were generally northwards and that the CCG 
needed to be linked into the work being done in the North of the patch.  We therefore moved to 
be part of the Northumberland, Tyne, Wear and North Durham Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan (STP).   We will however continue to play a role with regard to the STP in 
the south of the patch and the work of the Better Health Programme particularly with regard to 
community and mental health services. 
 
We hope that you find this report interesting and informative.  Further information about NHS 
North Durham CCG and the work that we do can be found on our website 
www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk  
 
 
 
Dr David Smart       Dr Neil O’Brien  
Clinical Chair       Clinical Chief Officer  

http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
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PERFORMANCE REPORT 
Performance Overview 
Our area  
 
Our 31 member practices are organised into three constituency areas – Durham, Chester-le-
Street and Derwentside.  Durham and Chester-le-Street cover a mixture of rural and urban 
areas with two main population centres - Durham City and Chester-le-Street. Derwentside 
comprises a mixture of urban, semi-urban and rural areas with the population concentrated in 
Stanley and Consett. The University of Durham is home to a large and internationally diverse 
student population. There are significant variations in health across these three areas. 
 
The CCG is coterminous with Durham County Council and about 97% of our 
population live within the council boundaries. The remainder live in Gateshead and 
Sunderland. 
 
Our health challenges 
 
People who live in the North Durham area have significant health challenges and problems. 
They are also more likely to die sooner than those living in other parts of the country. The main 
causes of early death include high levels of cancer and diseases of the heart or blood vessels.  
 
With an ageing population, we also experience greater demand for hospital services and an 
increase in illnesses related to older people such as stroke, long-term conditions and 
dementia.  
 
The large student population in Durham City results in a demand for sexual health, alcohol and 
harm reduction services. 
 
Other key challenges facing North Durham CCG include:  

 health problems caused by unemployment and low incomes, 
 many local people are still smoking, drinking too much alcohol and are overweight, 
 people with disabilities have worse health than those without, 
 local children’s health and lifestyles are poorer than elsewhere in the country 
 the environment can have an effect on health, for example changes in the weather or 

lots of traffic in some areas, 
 social isolation. 

 
The CCG is committed to ensuring that people get the same quality and access to health 
services, wherever they live. We aim to ensure that health services meet the needs of patients, 
the health of the community is improved, health inequalities are reduced and that the CCG 
obtains value for money and efficiency from available resources. 
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Our strategic aims are to: 
 

 improve the health status of the population, 
 address the needs of the changing age profile of the population, 
 commission clinically effective better quality services closer to home, 
 make best use of public funds to ensure health care meets the needs of patients and is 

safe and effective. 
 
Our approach 
 
How we are delivering our commissioning programmes and initiatives 
 
The CCG is continuing to focus on improving the quality of care our patients receive, getting a 
better understanding of our use of secondary care services, ensuring that the services we 
commission offer value for money and enable us to manage demand more effectively.   
 
We have taken stock of the full range of services we commission to identify where gaps in 
quality might exist and work with our current providers to ensure a more holistic service is 
provided in the most appropriate setting for our patients.  This has enabled us to invest 
resource to improve the health outcomes and reduce the health inequalities of our population 
for the future.   
 
The CCG is supported by the North of England Commissioning Support (NECS) in 
commissioning services.  We also work closely with a range of partners to ensure that work is 
delivered in the most effective way, these include: 
 

 neighbouring CCGs, 
 hospital and ambulance trusts, 
 Durham County Council, 
 social care, 
 public health, and 
 community pharmacists. 

 
Some of the initiatives we have worked on during 2016/17 with a range of our partners have 
been: 
 

 developing a new diabetes model of care based in primary rather than secondary care, 
 planning to provide services via teams around practices (TAPS), 
 developing plans to implement the requirements of the National Transforming Care 

Programme for those with learning disabilities, 
 driving forward the children and young people’s mental health agenda, 
 implementing our local Dementia Strategy, 
 implementing the Crisis Care Concordat action plan, 
 developing projects to improve patient experience and the quality of care they receive 

across the musculoskeletal spectrum, 
 developing an action plan following the publication of the NHS General Practice Five 

Year Forward View, 
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 supporting the primary care workforce and planning for the future via initiatives such as 
the GP Career Start Programme and the County Durham Career Start Practice Nurse 
programme, 

 investing in GP and secondary care clinicians expertise to develop Clinical Support 
Guidelines for use by clinicians in our member practices’, 

 establishing the Rapid Specialist Opinion (RSO) scheme to quality check referrals 
against out CSI guidelines, and 

 reviewing our urgent care and GP out of hours services. 
 
More information about these is provided in the section on Key Activities for 2016/17 on page 
13. 
 
Our Performance Challenges 
 
Information about the CCG’s performance against the requirements under the NHS 
Constitution and the health outcome measures, against which the CCG is assessed under the 
CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework developed by NHS England, is included from 
page 21.  It includes information about plans that have been put in place to address those 
areas where performance has been below expectations. 
 
Whilst the majority of NHS Constitutional Standards have continued to be delivered for our 
patients during the year, there are certain Standards for which we recognise performance is 
not good enough and we are working hard to improve.  In particular:   

 although performance has improved since last year, the number of people waiting over 
4 hours in Accident and Emergency (A&E) continues to be below standard, with only 
93.2% of patients being seen in 4 hours at our main provider, County Durham and 
Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT), compared to a standard of at least 95%, 

 ambulance response times have worsened again in 2016/17 and remain below 
target.  This is a challenge that we will continue to work on with the North East 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust and other partners, 

 linked to this, we recognise that ambulance handover delays at our local hospital 
continue to be a problem, although again significant improvements have been made in 
this area during the year, 

 there have been pressures in delivering a number of cancer targets during the year but 
overall performance for the year is above standard for almost all targets and shows an 
improvement on previous years, 

 there have been no incidents of MRSA and a reduction in the incidence of C.difficile in 
2016/17 which is a positive improvement on the prior year although this has been above 
the trajectory set by NHS England, 

 there has been an increase in the number of patients waiting more than 18 weeks to 
start treatment compared to last year, although performance remains above standard, 

 no North Durham patients waited more than 52 weeks for treatment in 2016/17 which is 
an improvement on the previous year, 

 the number of people waiting more than 6 weeks for a diagnostic test has continued to 
be within the 1% standard all year. 
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How we are commissioning safe and effective care 
 
North Durham CCG is committed to commissioning better quality services closer to where 
people live and making the best use of public funds to make sure health care meets the needs 
of patients and is safe. 
 
We believe that robust information governance systems are very important.  We have a 
programme of mandatory training, information risk management, incident management and 
have also adopted the Health and Social Care Information Centre’s (HSCIC) checklist for 
dealing with serious incidents. 
 
There are many initiatives which contribute to the delivery of safe and effective care and the 
commissioning of better quality services including those listed below. 
   

 clinical quality assurance framework, 
 safeguarding, 
 medicines optimisation, 
 emergency preparedness. 

 
Clinical quality assurance framework 
Within North Durham CCG, and working together with neighbouring CCGs, we continue with 
our structured approach to ensuring that our patients receive the right standard of care, the 
right outcomes and have a positive experience.  We work with all our providers to ensure that 
contracts include relevant aspects of quality and that they are properly monitored.   
 
Safeguarding 
We continue to meet our statutory requirements in relation to safeguarding adults and 
children.  The CCG is represented at the safeguarding adults’ and safeguarding children’s 
boards, and the Director of Nursing and Quality is the Vice Chair of the Safeguarding 
Children’s Board.  The implications of the Care Act 2014 and NHS England safeguarding 
assurance framework have been taken into account in our policies and procedures.  The CCG 
also continues to have good engagement with its member practices to ensure that robust 
safeguarding policies and procedures are in place and understood. Learning lessons from 
serious case reviews forms an essential part of the training for staff in primary care and within 
the CCG. 
 
Medicines Optimisation 
The decision to prescribe is the most common intervention in the NHS. The CCG works 
collaboratively with other health professionals and social care providers to deliver evidence-
based, cost effective use of medication to maximise patient outcomes from medication 
prescribed to them. This is facilitated through the North Region Treatment Advisory Group, 
County Durham and Darlington Area Prescribing Committee, and its shared formulary process 
with secondary care along with individual funding request processes for medication.   

  
All practices receive monthly prescribing reports detailing budget and performance against the 
indicators in the County Durham and Darlington Prescribing Incentive Scheme.  These include 
antibiotic prescribing rates and links in with the Department of Health's Antimicrobial Resistance 
Strategy.  Over the past year the CCG has worked closely with local microbiologists and 
infection control to reduce our overall antibiotic prescribing.  This work stream has also 
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included meeting and working supportively with high antibiotic prescribing practices within 
our CCG to share and embed best practice. 
 
Emergency Preparedness 
The CCG has incident response plans in place, which are fully compliant with the NHS 
England Emergency Preparedness Framework 2013.  A full review of the business continuity 
plans will be undertaken in 2017/18 the results of which will be reported to the Governing 
Body. 
 
The CCG is also working with our member practices to ensure that they have appropriate 
business continuity plans in place.   
 
Some of our processes and systems were tested in 2016/17 as a result of a major computer 
failure that affected two of our member practices and their branch surgeries. 
 
Management of Risk 

 
The CCG has an effective risk management strategy, systems and controls in place.  Risk is 
identified and embedded in the organisation via a number of mechanisms including a 
comprehensive risk register which identifies current and prospective risks to the CCG.  The risk 
register incorporates the full comprehensive list of all risks facing the CCG at an operational 
and strategic level, across the five areas of delivery, development and transition, finance, 
performance and quality.  

 
All risks are reviewed on at least a monthly basis, with all corporate ‘red’ risks, identified as 
having the potential to have a significant impact on the CCG corporate objectives, escalated 
and specifically reviewed by Governing Body.  During 2016/17 our most significant ‘red’ risks 
have been: 

 
 delivery of the financial control total due to the financial pressures within the health 

economy, 
 delivery of NHS Constitutional Standards with significant pressures evident in certain 

standards, particularly in respect of A&E 4 hour waits, cancer waiting times and 
ambulance response times. 

 
More detail about the management of the risks to the CCG is included in the Governance 
Statement. 
 
Engaging with our patients and the public 
 
In developing our priorities we have worked closely with GP practices and have engaged with 
patients and other local organisations that provide services as well as voluntary organisations.  
The CCG continues to develop our relationships with partners, providers and our communities 
as we deliver this strategic plan.   
 
We will ensure that we have a range of ways in which we communicate and engage with our 
patients and population.  The CCG uses what we know about our communities to engage with 
different people and groups in ways that best meet their needs, and in order to improve the 
health of our population we communicate messages which give clear directions to the choice 
of services available and which are easy to access.   
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More detailed information on patient and public engagement is included from page 32. 
 
Working in partnership 
 
The CCG is committed to working with a range of local partners and organisations so that we 
can develop the best health care services for local people.  This has been demonstrated 
across our commissioning work as already outlined, for example the work we have done on 
mental health services and clinical support information. 
 
People’s health and wellbeing is dependent on more than just the health services that we 
commission. We are very clear that in order to improve people’s wellbeing and reduce their 
need for services we need to work with a wide range of partners including public health, the 
police, and voluntary and third sector organisations. By working closely with such partners we 
can ensure we commission joined up pathways of care irrespective of organisational 
boundaries.  
 
Integration Board / Better Care Fund 
The CCG has continued to be an active partner with regard to the Better Care Fund, a joint 
initiative across the CCGs and local authority which is intended as a driver to improve 
preventative community services and as such is a real opportunity to co-ordinate and improve 
the community based service that can pre-empt the need for emergency care and help people 
remain well and independent within their local communities.  This is being delivered in 
partnership with the local authority and our providers, through the work of an Integration Board 
working closely with the Health and Wellbeing Board.   We are an active partner in the 
Integration Board which this year agreed to appoint a Director of Integration to work across all 
partner organisations and who is hosted by the CCG. 
 
Health and Wellbeing Board 
The CCG continues to be an active member of County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board 
with representation on the board.  The Health and Wellbeing Board promotes integrated 
working between commissioners of health services, public health and social care services, for 
the purposes of improving the health and wellbeing of County Durham residents.   
 
As part of the Health and Wellbeing Board, the CCG has contributed to the development of the 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for County 
Durham.  This strategy outlines a three year vision for improving health and wellbeing and 
addressing health inequalities across County Durham.  The strategy aims to inform and 
influence decisions about health and social care services, to ensure they are focused on the 
needs of the people who use them and tackle the factors that affect health and wellbeing.  
 
There is overlap between the membership of the CCG’s Governing Body and the Health and 
Wellbeing Board which ensures an awareness of our commissioning priorities and plans and 
how these fit with the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) for Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and 
North Durham 
We are also working with other CCGs to improve the quality of hospital care in our region 
through the sustainability and transformation plans (STPs). 
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During 2016/17 work was done on modelling activity data and patient flows.  It became clear 
that the patient flows for North Durham were generally northwards and that the CCG needed to 
be linked into the work being done in the North of the patch on the Northumberland, Tyne and 
Wear STP.  The decision was therefore made that the CCG should be a full member of what 
became the Northumberland, Tyne, Wear and North Durham (NTWND) STP and that the 
University Hospital of North Durham (UHND) would also need to be considered as part of the 
plans being considered by the Northern STP.   
 
The CCG remains within the Durham, Darlington, Teesside, Hambleton, Richmondshire and 
Whitby STP with regard to the range of services, other than acute, that falls within this STP 
and includes community and mental health services.   
 
Using the experience gained by key members of staff from undertaking lead roles within the 
Better Health Programme the CCG is now playing a major part working with health and social 
care organisations in the development of the NTWND STP.   
 
The NTWSTP STP is ambitious draft plan aimed at improving the health and well-being of the 
1.7m people living in the area.  The draft plan is one of 44 such plans being developed across 
the country in response to NHS England’s Five Year Forward View (5YFV), a national plan that 
set out a vision for a better NHS. The NTWND STP draft plan is built on a lot of work that has 
already begun and sets out proposals to: 
 

 improve health inequalities, 
 ensure safe and sustainable local health and care services, 
 fill a funding gap that could be as large as £641m by 2021. 

 
Financial Recovery Group 
Recognising the need to work in true partnership with our main provider CDDFT together with 
the two other CCGs in County Durham and Darlington we established a joint Financial 
Recovery Group.  The purpose of the group is to ensure the delivery of the CCGs’ Quality, 
Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) target and the trust’s Cost Reduction Target 
(CRT) across County Durham and Darlington.  The group agrees and manages joint 
arrangements for demand management and financial recovery which focus on reducing both 
commissioner expenditure and provider costs.  
 
Commission for Health and Social Care Integration in the North East 
The CCG played a key role in the joint North East Combined Authority (NECA) / NHS 
Commission for Health and Social Care Integration which was established as part of the 
proposed devolution deal agreed between NECA and central government in September 2015.  
Their work has focused on three core themes - a shift to prevention, health, wellbeing and 
productivity and system leadership and governance. The report published on 11 October 2016, 
‘Health and wealth: closing the gap in the North East’ sets out ten far reaching 
recommendations for health and care leaders across County Durham, Gateshead, Newcastle, 
Northumberland, North Tyneside, South Tyneside and Sunderland to attempt to break the 
vicious circle of poor health and poverty. 
 
Accountable Care Partnership 
The CCG has started work in partnership with NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
(DDES) CCG, NHS Darlington CCG and NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG to 
develop a partnership arrangement with Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 
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(TEWV) which is a move towards the development of an Accountable Care Partnership.  As of 
1 April 2017 TEWV will further enhance their current work alongside the CCGs in regard to the 
commissioning of learning disability services, initially this will be around the case management 
and supporting the commissioning of individual placements in the form of a strengthened care 
co-ordinator role.   
 
Value Based Clinical Commissioning Policies 
Across the country most, if not all Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) have a set of 
policies and procedures for limiting the number of low clinical value procedures.  
 
All CCGs in the North East have adopted a common set of policies since 2010. These are the 
Value Based Clinical Commissioning Policies (VBCCP). 
 
With effect from 1 April 2016 a range of musculo-skeletal treatment policies were introduced 
into the VBCCP. 
 
Throughout 2016/17 North Durham CCG have worked closely with member GP Practices, 
other CCGs, providers, in particular County Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust 
(CDDFT), Public Health and NECS colleagues to effectively implement these policies and 
continue to embed the Prior Approval Ticket (PAT) process. 
 
The North East Regional Value Based Clinical Commissioning Policy Steering Group was 
established by the Northern Forum in October 2016 with the aim of further extending the 
VBCCP to include areas identified as outlying indicators in the RightCare data for the region 
and to ensure maintenance and review of existing policies. This group is chaired by the North 
Durham CCG Director of Quality and Safety. 
 
Between October 2016 and March 2017 work was carried out to formulate policies for further 
new areas and to review some of the existing. The new VBC Checker, an on-line system to 
enhance the Prior Approval Ticket (PAT) process, was also developed. The further additional 
and revised policies and the VBC Checker were all to become effective as from 1 April 2017.  
 
A copy of the current version of the VBCCP is available via the CCG website: 
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/key-documents/patient-information/ 
 
 
Financial statements 
 
Also included in this report are the CCG’s financial statements for 2016/17.  One of the CCG’s 
strategic aims is to make the best use of public funds to ensure health care meets the needs of 
patients and is safe and effective.  The financial review section includes information about the 
systems and processes in place to achieve this – see page 24 onwards.  
 
In summary during 2016/17: 

 all key statutory financial duties and targets have been delivered in line with our financial 
plan; 

 an additional in-year surplus of £3.74 million has been delivered in line with NHS 
England requirements to hold 1% of funding uncommitted to help offset financial 
pressures on the wider NHS system; 

http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/key-documents/patient-information/
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 significant financial pressures were evident during the year, including overspends on 
secondary care acute contracts and significant growth in the costs of individual 
packages of care; 

 a financial recovery plan was implemented early in the year with a range of actions 
taken to successfully manage these pressures and deliver the financial position. 

 
It is likely that these financial pressures will continue to grow over the coming years and the 
implementation of sustainability and transformation plans and delivery of the necessary 
financial efficiencies will continue to be a significant challenge. 

 
 

Equality and Diversity 
 
North Durham CCG complies with the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector Equality Duty 
and we have demonstrated our commitment to taking Equality, Diversity and Human Rights 
into account in everything we do, whether that is commissioning services, employing people, 
developing policies, communicating, consulting or involving people in our work.  More detail is 
available on page 35. 
 
 
Looking forward to 2017/18 
 
Looking forward to 2017/18 we will continue to work with both health and social care 
organisations to ensure the best use of the ‘public pound’.  We would expect to build on and 
further progress the work already being undertaken on current initiatives.  Some of our main 
priorities will be: 
 

 playing an integral role in the Northumberland, Tyne, Wear and North Durham 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan, 

 designing new ways of working to implement services around individuals and their 
communities via Teams Around Practices (TAPS), 

 ensuring the delivery of the CCGs’ QIPP target / our main provider’s CRT across 
County Durham and Darlington, 

 developing an estates strategy working with NHS Property Services and our main 
providers to ensure the most effective and cost effective us of estate, 

 exploring the development of an Accountable Care Partnership, and 
 developing new ways of working with North of England Commissioning Support to 

implement the most appropriate model of commissioning support. 
 

As outlined above the CCG is aligned to the regional transformation work which is gathering 
pace at present.  To support that work and to ensure that it continues to make progress we are 
committed as a CCG to make resources, either financial or personnel, available to ensure we 
are able to deliver the large at scale projects at both regional level and a sub-regional level.   
 
In order to be able to make this contribution and still have the capacity to deliver on other work 
which remains with individual CCGs we have concluded that it would be sensible for North 
Durham CCG and DDES CCG to work even more closely together to try to make some 
efficiencies. We already have a number of staff who work across both CCGs and we work very 
closely together as CCGs now to ensure a whole population focus is taken for County Durham 
residents.  The CCGs already hold some meetings in common and our initial intention following 
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initial discussions would be to extend this process to most formal committee and Executive 
meetings and to look at any other areas of duplication which we could tackle in a similar way.  
 
In many ways this would mean that we are effectively functioning as a single entity – whilst 
retaining individual statutory responsibilities. This has inevitably given rise to the question of 
whether the two CCGs should formally merge.  This possibility is something that will be 
considered as we move into 2017/18. 
 
 
Key activities in 2016/17 
 
This section outlines in more detail some of the work the CCG has done during 2016/17. 
 

Clinical Support Information 
 
The CCG has invested in the development of clinical support (CSI) guidelines for use by the 
GPs within our member practices.  The guidelines have been developed by GPs working in 
partnership with a range of clinicians from secondary care using national guidelines and best 
practice information.  We initially focused on nine specialties working solely with CDDFT: 
  

 cardiology, 
 ears, nose and throat, 
 gastroenterology, 
 cancer, 
 gynaecology and women’s health, 
 dermatology, 
 rheumatology, 
 musculoskeletal, 
 orthopaedics. 

 
The guidelines are made available to all of our GPs via GPTeamNet and are used to ensure 
that patient referrals are the most appropriate and clinically effective. 
 
Diabetes 
 
A review of diabetes services across County Durham and Darlington in 2013/14 revealed a 
number of challenges with continuing the current ways of working. There were rising costs of 
prescribing, little integration between GP Practices, specialist Consultants, Diabetes Specialist 
Nurses and Community Services and we were experiencing both locally and nationally 
increasing numbers of patients being diagnosed with diabetes. Engagement feedback 
concluded that patients wanted more support to self-manage their condition and a more 
flexible and joined up diabetes service. Similarly Consultants, GPs and nurses advised they 
wanted to support patients to self-care more and to provide a more integrated service.  
 
Using all of this information, a new Integrated Diabetes Model was developed during 2015 and 
during 2016/17 work has taken place to put this new approach to diabetes care into practice 
around County Durham and Darlington. This happened in stages and will commence across 
North Durham from 1st April 2017.   
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The new model will see care being delivered to all but the most complex diabetes patients 
within a GP Practice setting with skilled diabetes GPs and Practice Nurses, supported by 
specialist Consultants and Diabetes Specialist Nurses. The overall aims of the new integrated 
diabetes model is to provide a genuinely integrated approach between primary and secondary 
care, reducing local variation in the quality of diabetes care and the management of patient 
blood glucose levels facilitating improved health outcomes for patients. It allows the CCG to 
work towards a financially sustainable pathway of care by achieving savings, such as reducing 
cost per patient, that are to be reinvested back into the model to further improve health 
outcomes for people with, or at risk of, developing diabetes. 
 
Integration and Teams Around Practices (TAPs) development 
 
The General Practice Five Year forward View and The Care Act 2014 outlined the need to 
design and implement services around individuals and their communities to further enhance 
pathways and joint service provision across health and social care. 
 
Health and Social Care organisations have been reviewing how they can redistribute staff 
appropriately at a community level in response to ensure best use of ‘public pound’. 
North Durham CCG has been working with Durham County Council and local providers and 
partners to develop a model. A model has been agreed which will identify frontline workforce 
who will work as Teams Around Practices. 
 
These teams will work across a group of GP practices.  Some may have a physical base whilst 
others will be “wrapped around” existing groups of GP practices.  Throughout 17/18 these 
teams and services will continue to be developed and implemented. 
 
Due to the scale of these developments, there will be a phased implementation of teams and 
services. The first phase will include District Nurses and Intermediate Care plus teams as the 
TAPs will have a focus on caring for older or frail people.   
 
Learning Disabilities – Transforming Care 
 
Working with our partners across Durham and the Region, the CCG has been developing 
plans as part of the National Transforming Care Programme. Over the last twelve months we 
have supported the discharge of thirteen people from assessment and treatment hospitals.  
We recognise that there is still a lot to do and through collaborative working our ambition is to 
ensure that the community is resourced with the necessary skills and expertise to support 
people well and safely outside of hospitals.  
 
In order to achieve this we have been working with Durham County Council, housing and care 
providers to help create the type of housing and support models that will meet people’s needs. 
As a result, a number of new developments are now in progress for completion over the next 
twelve months. Creating a robust community service will enable the CCG to reduce the 
number of inpatient beds that it commissions, our recent successes have seen the closure of a 
five bedded inpatient ward and we will continue to support the delivery of the North East and 
Cumbria Bed Reduction trajectory. 
 
Following a successful bid for transformation funds we have established a joint role within the 
Local Authority to work across health and social care, targeted at supporting the early 
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identification and planning for young people coming through to adulthood. This role will 
strengthen our strategic commissioning responsibilities. 
 
Though our partnerships we are implementing a stronger focus on prevention, supported by 
the delivery of Care and Treatment Reviews (CTRs) CTRs focus on establishing that anyone 
who is admitted to inpatient care is safe, is getting good care and has a plan in place for their 
future. By identifying people who need support much earlier and working together to find a 
solution, we have been able to prevent some people from being admitted to hospital and when 
people have needed an admission we have worked quickly to plan their discharge home. 
 
Mental Health 

Children and Young People’s Mental Health 
Throughout 2016/17 NHS North Durham CCG has continued to work in partnership with DDES 
CCG, Durham County Council and other health and wellbeing partners to drive forward the 
children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing agenda. 
 
Following publication of the Local Transformation Plan for improving children and young 
people’s mental health, emotional wellbeing and resilience, the CCG has supported a number 
of priority areas identified within the plan.  Progress on key initiatives is summarised below: 
 
Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) Crisis Service 
The CCG has continued to invest in the development of the CAMHS Crisis Service. The 
service is being extended to deliver 24/7 crisis care and support. The CAMHS Crisis Service is 
responsive to the needs of children and young people with mental health conditions, such as 
self-harm, suicidality, disturbed behaviour, depression or acute psychoses. 
 
Community Eating Disorder Service for Children and Young People  
New investment has been used to enhance the community eating disorder services for children 
and young people, thereby supporting access to evidence-based treatment at the earliest 
possible stage of the illness.  This investment also supports delivery of the new access and 
waiting time standards, i.e. by 2020/21, 95% of children and young people will receive 
treatment within one week for urgent cases and four weeks for routine cases. 

 
Improving Access  
There has been an ongoing focus to improve access and reduce waiting times. Non-recurrent 
investment has been used to increase capacity to reduce the wait to treatment, with particular 
focus on, but not exclusive to, children and young people waiting an assessment for Autism 
Spectrum Disorder (ASD). The CCG has also welcomed the introduction of a single point of 
access for CAMHS, which commenced in August 2016. 

 
Parent Support Network 
A parent support network has been funded which aims to build a peer support network for 
parents and carers with children who are experiencing mental health problems.  

 
Bereavement Support Service for Children and Young People 
A new bereavement support service for children and young people has been commissioned. 
The service will be provided by appropriately qualified counsellors, trained staff and volunteers. 
It will also support schools and education providers to manage the impact of death, including 
suicide on young people. 
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The Local Transformation Plan for improving children’s mental health, emotional wellbeing and 
resilience, was refreshed in October 2016 following a period of engagement undertaken in 
conjunction with Investing in Children (IiC) and Durham Community Action (DCA). The Local 
Transformation Plan aligns with the ambitions set out within the Five Year Forward View of 
Mental Health. 
 
Adult Mental Health 
 
Dementia 
North Durham CCG continues to work in partnership with DDES CCG, Durham County Council 
and other key stakeholders to support the implementation of the local Dementia Strategy. 
 
The CCG has supported a number of priority areas identified within the strategy and progress 
against key initiatives is summarised below: 
 
Dementia Diagnosis Rates 
The CCG continues to exceed the national targets for dementia diagnosis and is working 
closely with local general practices and regional teams to ensure continued improvement of 
diagnostic rates for people with Dementia. 
 
Dementia Advisor Service 
A Dementia Advisor Service is now in place in County Durham provided by the Alzheimer’s 
Society and offers pre and post diagnosis support, advice and information to people living with 
memory problems/dementia, their families and carers.   
 
Dementia Awareness Training 
Dementia awareness training sessions have been delivered to a range of organisations across 
County Durham including CDDFT and North Durham primary care based staff. 
 
Dementia Friendly Environments 
An incentive scheme has been developed with CDDFT to develop dementia friendly 
environments on hospital sites; initiatives include dementia friendly signage, adapted crockery, 
picture menu cards and large face clocks.   
 
Dementia Connect 
A central information site has been established to provide the most up to date information on 
dementia services and resources to members of the public and health and social care 
professionals. 
 
Crisis Care concordat 
North Durham CCG has continued to Chair the Crisis Care Concordat partnership group and to 
lead the work between the Police, TEWV and the Local Authorities across County Durham and 
Darlington.   
 
The Concordat now has a detailed and focussed 2-year action plan and work has begun to 
improve how services (in the Police force, health and the Local Authority) in County Durham 
and Darlington are delivered.  Key achievements in 2016/17 include:   
 

 ambulance waiting times for patients in a mental health crisis who need to be 
transported to hospital has been significantly reduced;  
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 a mental health team has been introduced to work alongside the Police to identify 
Mental Health issues in patients displaying worrying symptoms in a public place and 
supporting them into treatment; 

 co-ordination of access methods to all service providers resulting in a simplified pathway 
for patients; 

 targeted support for individuals who frequently use emergency services, working closely 
with them and the most appropriate service provider to develop an improved response. 

 
Work to deliver the Concordat action plan will continue throughout 2017/18, this includes 
utilisation of capital funding, secured from the Department of Health, to improve places of 
safety across the Concordat area.  This funding will be released from in 2017/18 to allow the 
projects to be delivered.  Places of safety are used by people in mental health crisis as 
somewhere to be safe and to receive reliable support to enable them to move forward. 
 
Early Intervention in Psychosis 
North Durham CCG has worked closely with mental health service providers to ensure that the 
national standard, implemented on 1 April 2016, was achieved.  The standard required more 
than 50% of all patients experiencing a first episode in psychosis to be treated with a NICE 
approved care package within two weeks of referral.   
 
Mental Health Liaison 
Mental health liaison services, sometimes referred to as liaison psychiatry, are concerned with 
the mental health needs of people who also have physical health needs.  In 2016/17, North 
Durham CCG approved funding to enhance liaison services and to enable delivery of a 24/7 
service in line with new national standards. 
 
Musculoskeletal (MSK) services 
 
Working closely with clinical colleagues at CDDFT, the CCG has been working on several 
projects to improve services across the entire MSK spectrum, that is from routine 
physiotherapy right up to orthopaedic surgical procedures. Each of the following projects 
delivered in 2016/17 were aimed at ensuring patients are seen quickly by the right clinician at 
the right time and to promote self-management in order to prevent MSK conditions becoming 
unnecessarily chronic or complex: 
 

  Physiotherapy ‘Hubs’. Practice-based physiotherapy services were realigned into fewer, 
but strategically placed, hub sites to provide greater equity for all North Durham patients 
and reduce waiting times; 

  GP access to PhysioTools. PhysioTools is an online bank of evidence-based exercises 
that clinicians can prescribe to patients for a wide range of common MSK conditions. 
The tool was already widely used by CDDFT physiotherapists and now GPs can use it 
to encourage self-management and aid recovery from routine conditions such as 
sprained ankles, or tennis elbows. Patients can download the PhysioTools ‘App’; 

  Regional Back Pain Pathway. The CCG has adopted a national evidence based 
approach to managing acute back pain that ensures patients are given the right advice 
very early on to manage their pain and maintain daily activities or return to work. The 
pathway also addresses wider impacts of back pain, such as in relation to mental health 
and social function; 
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  MSK-Orthopaedics Pathway. Working directly with senior physiotherapists and 
orthopaedic consultants, the CCG has reviewed and streamlined the GP referral 
pathway into MSK Tier 2 (senior MSK practitioners) for assessment, treatment and/or 
onward referral to orthopaedics or other surgical consultants. 

 
 
Primary Care  
 
The NHS GP Five Year Forward View published in April 2016 sets out a shared vision for the 
future of the NHS based around new models of care.  It sets out over the next five years the 
responsibilities and investment to undertake this transformation.  Due to the rising demand and 
expectations on the NHS regarding greater accessibility over seven days and the NHS 
financial challenge the CCG has been exploring new ways of delivering primary care in the 
future.  
 
North Durham CCG has submitted a plan to NHS England to demonstrate how we will deliver 
on the GP Five Year Forward View.  
 
Primary Care Workforce - The primary care workforce is changing, it is important to support 
these changes through training, education and opportunities for professional development and 
to look at new models of care to meet future demand.  The CCG is working in partnership with 
Health Education North East (HENE) and our local GP federations; Derwentside Healthcare 
Ltd, Central Durham GP Providers Limited and Chester-le-Street Health Limited to prepare and 
ensure there is a commitment with partners to develop a robust and sustainable multi-skilled 
and multi-professional work force across primary care services.  During 2016/2017 these 
partner organisations were successful in a bid to be a host as a Community Education Provider 
Network which will lead on further developments. 
 
In addition, during 2016/17 the CCG has supported workforce development and 
implementations through the following schemes:-  
 
County Durham Career Start Practice Nurse programme - The programme offers the 
opportunity for Registered General Nurses with an interest in primary care to apply for 
positions in General GP practices (30 month fixed term contract) which enables them to 
develop a portfolio of skills and knowledge required by primary care. The Career Start Practice 
Nurses also provide cover to General GP practices to allow practice based nurses to access 
professional development.  
 
GP Career Start programme - The GP Career Start initiative is aimed at attracting GPs who 
are looking for the opportunity to take up a post in general practice at an early point in their 
career which offers them the chance for ‘added value’ personal development e.g. medical 
student teaching, minor surgery, etc., as well as to benefit from a mentorship programme whilst 
at the same time trying to expand the role of primary care within the local health economy.  
This approach fits with the General Practice Five Year Forward View in terms of workforce 
expansion and the vision to deliver an extra 5,000 additional doctors in the UK working in 
general practice by 2020. A two year programme has been developed (2016) in conjunction 
with DDES CCG to encourage the expansion of the GP workforce within the North.  This 
involves the marketing and advertisement of North Durham as well as commissioning the 
provision of training and mentorship for successful applicants. So far in our inaugural year four 
GPs joined the scheme. 
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The CCG has worked in conjunction with HENE to secure funding to support the recruitment of 
these posts over the next 3 years.   
 
Physician Assistants – The CCG in conjunction with Derwentside Healthcare Limited is 
working directly with Newcastle Medical School to host ten Physician Assistants (PA) in 
General Practice.  
 
Increasing skill-mix - A wide range of local initiatives have been established within the CCG 
to provide multi-disciplinary teams these include: 
 

 Intermediate Care Plus – a multi-disciplinary team of nurses, including mental health, 
therapists, social workers and pharmacists; 

  at GP federation level, working across practices to provide a weekend GP support 
service for those patients who are most vulnerable, providing reactive and proactive 
care alongside community matrons, to keep this vulnerable cohort of patients out of 
hospital or facilitate discharge where necessary; 

 full integration of community matrons into primary care multi-disciplinary teams working 
with GPs and practice staff providing a range of proactive and reactive care on a case 
management basis; 

 there were three GP practices across North Durham open during Christmas bank 
holidays, including Christmas Day, providing access to GP appointments. 

 
Rapid Specialist Opinion 

GPs have responsibility to make best use of NHS resources and need up to date evidence and 
advice to be able to treat patients in practice or refer on appropriately. Unnecessary outpatient 
appointments are a waste of valuable NHS resources. Rapid Specialist Opinion has been put 
in place by the CCG to make sure practices follow clinical guidelines which have been agreed 
locally with GPs, hospital consultants and many other relevant practitioners. This will improve 
referral quality and ensure that all referrals follow the most recent clinical guidelines.  This will 
ensure that patients are treated in the most appropriate way, in the most appropriate setting 
first time.  In cases where onward referral is not deemed necessary, advice for primary care 
treatment or investigation is provided to the GP. 
 
The scheme was introduced in October 2016 for six specialties: 
 

 cardiology,  
 dermatology,  
 ears, nose and throat (ENT),  
 gastroenterology,  
 gynecology,  
 ophthalmology. 

 
During the first 20 weeks of the scheme 543 referrals were returned to primary care with 
advice on alternative treatment (11.69% of referrals triaged).  Over the same period actual 
referrals to secondary care reduced by 14% indicating that GPs may be following the agreed 
clinical guidelines for the specialties within the scheme. Before they would have otherwise 
made a referral to secondary care.  
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Urgent and Emergency Care  
 
The CCG reviewed its urgent care and GP Out of Hours service in 2016 in order to reflect 
changes that have been made to the service since it was commissioned in 2005. The GP Out 
of Hours service operates between Monday to Friday from 6pm to 8am and 24 hours at 
weekends and public holidays from Shotley Bridge General Hospital and University Hospital of 
North Durham. The urgent care centre at Shotley Bridge General Hospital operates between 
Monday and Friday from 8am to 6pm each day. 
 
As part of the review of these services, the CCG undertook a wide range of engagement 
activities with GPs, patients, members of the public, and the current provider’s management 
and staff. We also reviewed existing service activity data, as well as reviewed national 
research and best practice in the area of urgent care and Out of Hours services and 
considered a range of models and delivery methods for the Service. 
  
The review resulted in the development of a new specification for the service which will see, 
with patient consent, greater sharing of patients’ primary care records to improve patient care. 
The service will now also offer direct telephone advice from GPs to ambulance crews, 
registered nurses, and care and nursing homes in order to improve patient experience and 
avoid unnecessary use of emergency departments and other urgent care services, as well as 
improving patient experience. 
 
The CCG is mobilising these changes to the service with CDDFT. 
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Performance analysis   
Performance  
 
Measuring our performance helps us to ensure our services are delivered to a quality standard 
and provide value for money. The CCG has internal processes in place to manage 
performance against the range of indicators including a mechanism to work with internal and 
external colleagues to identify areas of risk, and implementation of action plans to mitigate 
these. This ensures improvements in performance are delivered.  
 
Throughout the year, reports are provided to our Governing Body setting out our performance 
against the agreed local and national measures. These quality and performance reports 
describe how, in partnership with our providers, we are meeting the CCG’s commitment to 
ensure that the commissioning decisions and actions we take improve healthcare for the 
population of North Durham and ensure patients receive the highest quality of care.  
 
NHS England has a statutory duty to make an annual assessment of each CCG’s 
performance. It meets this duty through its CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework 
and CCG performance dashboard. 
 
The Five Year Forward View, NHS Planning Guidance, and the Sustainability and 
Transformation Plans (STPs) for each area, are all driven by the pursuit of the “triple aim”: (i) 
improving the health and wellbeing of the whole population; (ii) better quality for all patients, 
through care redesign; and (iii) better value for taxpayers in a financially sustainable system. 
 
In North Durham we have worked with our partners and stakeholders to ensure that the health 
and wellbeing of patients remained a priority and to improve performance against national and 
local targets and the requirements of the NHS Constitution. 
 
Performance against NHS Constitution targets 
 
The following pages set out areas where we are performing particularly well and some that still 
require improvement.  Further information about the CCG’s performance against these targets 
and additional detail about the actions being taken to improve performance can be found within 
the performance report in Governing Body meetings papers on the CCG’s website. 
 
Referral to treatment 
 
Patients have the legal right to start their NHS consultant-led treatment within a maximum of 
18 weeks from referral. 
 
Performance for the year ended 31st March 2017 for referral to treatment on incomplete 
pathways treated within 18 weeks was above target, with 92.9% of North Durham patients 
being treated within 18 weeks, compared to the threshold of 92%. 
 
No patients should be waiting more than 52 weeks for treatment and it is pleasing to report that 
no breaches have been reported for North Durham patients during the year. This is a 
significant improvement on the position in the previous year where a total of nine patients 
waited in excess of 52 weeks for treatment and is a reflection of the actions implemented in 
partnership with our main provider. 
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Diagnostic test waiting times 
 
No more than 1% of patients should wait over six weeks for a diagnostic test.  
 
North Durham CCG has achieved this target throughout the year with only 0.4% of patients 
waiting over six weeks as at 31st March 2017. 
 
Cancer waiting times 
 
Although there have been significant pressures in delivering cancer waiting time standards 
throughout the year, almost all of the standards have been achieved overall for the year, with 
the exception of the number of patients treated within 62 days of an urgent GP referral from an 
NHS Cancer Screening Service.  Performance against this screening standard was 87.1% 
against a target of 90%, reflecting a total of 9 breaches throughout the year. 
 
Significant work continues to be undertaken to maintain and improve performance against 
cancer targets. Patient level breach analysis is being undertaken to try and identify any trends 
within the breach reasons which can then inform further actions with our providers.  Although 
there are some capacity issues there are an increasing number of complex pathways which 
seriously impact our provider’s ability to achieve the target. Performance continues to be 
monitored through contract meetings and the CCG performance framework. 
 
Accident and emergency (A&E) performance 
 
Provider organisations have a number of targets in relation to emergency care. One key target 
is that 95% of patients should wait no longer than four hours for treatment in an emergency 
department. Overall this target is not being met by our main provider, CDDFT, with 
performance for the year being 93.2%. 
 
The trust achieved the target in Q2, but was non-compliant in Q1 and Q3. Performance further 
declined in January 2017, a trend experienced both at a regional and national level as a result 
of increased pressures and rise in demand for emergency care. Performance did improve in 
February and in particular March 2017, with the 95% standard achieved in the month of March 
2017. 
 
A number of proactive steps have been put in place to help prepare for surges, and ensure 
robust arrangements for reviewing and challenging performance. 
 
The CCG is not complacent about the performance of our providers as this seriously impacts 
on the experience of our local population. Whilst the final performance for 2016/17 has been 
maintained at the same level as the prior year, the challenges have been so great that we have 
not seen the improvements we wish to see. This will be an area of continued focus for 2017/18 
with plans in place to improve delivery during the year. 
 
Ambulance response times 
 
All ambulance trusts are expected to respond to 75% of immediately life threatening calls 
within eight minutes. The performance of the North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation 
Trust (NEAS) for the year against this indicator is reported as 62.5%. 
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Where onward transport is required, 95% of life-threatening calls will receive an ambulance 
vehicle capable of transporting the patient safely within 19 minutes of the request for transport 
being made. The performance of NEAS for the year against this indicator is reported as 89.3%. 
 
Performance has been affected by a number of factors including pressures across the whole 
health and social care system together with capacity issues within NEAS.  A comprehensive 
action plan is in place which is monitored through relevant contractual groups and processes. 
The plan contains a range of actions across three main areas/themes of demand, capacity and 
efficiency. 
 
The action plan is expected to deliver incremental improvements on performance over the 
coming year. 
 
Healthcare associated infection 
 
Reducing healthcare associated infection remained a key challenge for the CCG and the local 
NHS throughout the year. 
 
• MRSA (methicillin resistant Staphylococcus Aureus) 
There is a zero tolerance of MRSA which means that all commissioner and provider targets are 
zero. No cases of MRSA involving North Durham patients have been identified during the year. 
 
• Clostridium difficile 
The performance position to 31 March 2017 for the CCG shows 44 cases in total against a 
challenging target of 42.  The CCG therefore breached this target. 
 
Six Clinical Priority Areas 
The Forward View and the planning guidance set out national ambitions for transformation in 
six clinical priority areas.  The CCG progress against these areas is reported to NHS England 
through the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework and further information can be 
found on the My NHS website, https://www.nhs.uk/Service-Search/performance/search 
 
The initial assessment of the CCG against the six clinical priority areas, as published on My 
NHS, is shown below.  The six clinical priorities will be refreshed as part of the 16/17 overall 
assessment with expert panels utilising contextual information in making their assessment; 
these will be available from July 2017.  
 

Clinical priority area CCG assessment 
Mental health Performing well 
Dementia Performing well 
Learning disabilities Needs improvement 
Cancer Needs improvement 
Maternity Needs improvement 
Diabetes Performing well 

 
The areas requiring improvement are recognised by the CCG and work will continue to 
address those.  The transforming care programme in respect of learning disabilities services is 
highlighted on page 14 and we continue to work with our local providers to understand the 
issues in maternity and cancer services and deliver improvements for our patients.  

https://www.nhs.uk/Service-Search/performance/search
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Financial Review 
 
Overview  
 
During the year we have worked hard to secure high quality services, making every effort to 
ensure we use the resources allocated to North Durham CCG economically and with 
effectiveness and efficiency.   
 
Robust systems of financial governance and financial management processes have allowed all 
financial risks to be appropriately managed during the year enabling the delivery of financial 
targets.  
 
The CCG’s financial position has been maintained in the current year and it is pleasing to 
report that we have again been successful in achieving our key statutory and administrative 
financial duties during the financial year ended 31 March 2017.  Significant financial challenges 
and risks were identified early in the year and a financial recovery plan implemented to 
successfully manage the position. 
 
This continues to be a challenging time for the NHS with significant financial pressures and the 
financial performance outlined in the CCG’s annual accounts is pleasing to see, reflecting the 
strong financial management within the organisation. 
 
CCG allocations 
 
Two distinct funding streams are provided to CCGs: 
 

 Programme Budget Allocation – this funding relates to direct health care expenditure, 
 Running Cost Allowance – this funding, amounting to £21.56 per head of population, is 

to cover the administrative costs of running the CCG. 
 
The funding resources available to the CCG during the year were as follows: 
 
 Programme 

Budget 
Allocation 

£’000  

Running 
Cost 

Resources 
£’000 

Total 
£’000 

Initial baseline allocations 340,109 5,433 345,542 
Delegated primary care commissioning 
budgets 33,765 0 33,765 

Other in-year allocation adjustments  7,753 8 7,761 

Total final allocations 381,627 5,441 387,068 
    

Total funding per head of population * £1,512 £21.56 £1,534 

 

* funding per head of population has been calculated based on the registered population of the 

CCG, as published by NHS England, of 252,389.    

 



 25  
 
 

 

Financial targets and performance for the year 
 
CCG surplus position 
 
In addition to the requirement to fulfil its statutory duties, the CCG is expected by NHS England 
to deliver a cumulative surplus of at least 1% of its funding allocation.  This surplus is carried 
forward from one year to the next. 
 
For North Durham CCG, the cumulative surplus at 31 March 2016 was £5.75m (1.5% of 
funding allocation), which carried forward to 2016/17. 
 
As part of the planning requirements for 2016/17, all CCGs were mandated by NHS England to 
hold 1% of their total funding allocation uncommitted as a ‘risk reserve’.  For North Durham 
CCG this equated to £3.74 million. 
 
NHS England has required the CCG to leave that funding uncommitted during the year.   
 
In March 2017, NHS England confirmed that all CCGs were required to increase their surplus 
by the value of this risk reserve.  Effectively this means the CCG has only been able to spend 
99% of its original confirmed funding allocation for the year on commissioning healthcare for 
the population of North Durham. 
 
This additional surplus will be used by NHS England nationally to offset financial pressures on 
the wider NHS system. 
 
A summary of the CCG’s final surplus position at the end of the year is as follows: 
 
 £ million % of total 

funding 
   
Surplus brought forward from prior year 5.75 1.5% 
   
Total funding allocation received for the year 387.0 100% 
Total spent by the CCG (383.26) 99% 
Additional surplus delivered in year 3.74 1% 
   
Final surplus carried forward to 2017/18 9.49 2.5% 
 
 
It is important to note that this final surplus balance of £9.49 million is not a ‘profit’ or surplus 
generated during the financial year.  The majority of it reflects a historical balance carried 
forward from previous years, with an additional £3.74 million of surplus generated during 
2016/17 as a result of NHS England requirements. 
 
The CCG’s successful results in 2016/17 are set out in the table below, with further detail 
included in note 23 of the full annual accounts published alongside this Annual Report. 
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Target Outcome 
 

Target 
Met? 

Deliver surplus on revenue budgets 
of at least 1% plus 1% uncommitted 

Total surplus of £9.49 million 
against a total revenue resource 
limit of £387.068 million 



Maintain running costs within 
separate running cost allowance 

Surplus of £0.281 million delivered 
on running cost budgets 



Maintain capital spending within 
capital resource limit 

No capital resource required and 
no capital spend in year N/A 

Ensure cash spending is within the 
cash limit set 

Cash managed within available 
resources 

 

 
Expenditure not to exceed resource limits 
 
Unlike commercial companies which make a profit or loss, CCGs are set resource limits within 
which they must contain net expenditure for the year. There are separate resource limits set for 
revenue and capital expenditure, with revenue expenditure limits further split between 
programme spend and running costs. 
 
The CCG’s final programme budget allocation for the year was £381.627 million.  
 
Operational financial balance 
 
The funding for the CCG is based upon an allocation formula, taking into account population 
growth, deprivation and the impact of an ageing population, which has provided target 
allocations at a CCG level. 
 
A minimum rate of growth funding was applied to all CCGs in 2016/17 of 2.9%, which in total 
amounted to £10.5 million for North Durham CCG.  
 
This funding is used to fund health care services including hospital and community health 
services (for both physical and mental health), prescribing costs for drugs and appliances, and 
continuing health care. 
 
Relevant costs amounted to £372.418 million and resulted in surplus being delivered on 
programme budgets of £9.209 million. 
 
When combined with the position reported on running costs below, this resulted in a total 
surplus being delivered on all revenue budgets of £9.49 million. 
 
Running costs 
 
As highlighted above, a separate running cost allowance is provided to all CCGs, amounting to 
£21.56 per head of population served for North Durham, to cover the administrative costs of 
running the CCG.   
 
There is a requirement to manage administrative costs within this allowance. 
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Total running costs for the year amounted to £5.160 million, compared to a running cost 
allowance of £5.441 million.  That underspend on running costs was used during the year to 
increase spend on direct healthcare. 
 
Capital resource limit 
 
The CCG had no capital expenditure in 2016/17 and therefore did not require any capital 
resource, hence this target is not applicable in the current year.  In future the capital 
requirements of the CCG, and any related capital resource received, are expected to be 
minimal. 
 
Other financial targets and disclosures 
 
In addition to the above statutory duties, CCGs have similar responsibilities to other NHS 
organisations to record performance against the Better Payment Practice Code (BPPC) 
published by the Department of Health. 
 
Compliance with Better Payment Practice Code 
 
The BPPC requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days 
of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later. 
 
The NHS aims to pay at least 95% of invoices within 30 days of receipt, or within agreed 
contract terms.  
 
Details of compliance with the code are given in note 5.1 to the financial statements. 
 
Performance against the target is monitored by the CCG on a monthly basis with performance 
maintained at over 95% of invoices paid within 30 days of receipt, measured against both total 
invoice value and overall volume of invoices.  
 
Prompt payments Code 
 
In addition to compliance against the BPPC, on 11 February 2014 the CCG became an 
approved signatory of The Prompt Payment Code. This initiative was devised by the 
government with The Institute of Credit Management (ICM) to tackle the crucial issue of late 
payment and to help small businesses. Suppliers can have confidence in any company that 
signs up to the code that they will be paid within clearly defined terms, and that there is a 
proper process for dealing with any payments that are in dispute.  
 
Approved signatories undertake to:  
 

 pay suppliers on time,  
 give clear guidance to suppliers and resolve disputes as quickly as possible,  
 encourage suppliers and customers to sign up to the code.  

 
Setting of charges for information 
 
The CCG has complied with HM Treasury’s guidance on setting charges for information. 
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Utilisation of resources 
  
Financial pressures arise each year, but the CCG was able to manage these by prudent 
financial planning and careful financial management.   
 
One of the CCG’s main objectives during the year was to maintain financial stability and probity 
while ensuring that resources were used as efficiently and effectively as possible in meeting 
the strategic aims as set out in the CCG’s strategic and operational plans. 
 
As noted above, significant financial challenges and risks were identified early in the year and 
a financial recovery plan implemented to address these pressures.  This included a range of 
actions to accelerate delivery of the CCGs QIPP plan and deliver greater value for money in 
commissioned services, as well as short term actions to delay investments where possible and 
utilise available contingency funding. 
 
One of the strategic aims of the CCG is to bring care closer to home, reducing the historic 
reliance on secondary care acute services in particular. This will be essential over the coming 
years to deliver the shifts in activity from secondary care services to primary and community 
care settings that will be required to support the delivery of the NHS Five Year Forward View 
and management of the financial pressures facing the NHS. 
 
It is important that this transformation of care is managed in a planned and progressive manner 
and the CCG has remained committed to supporting its main providers of secondary care 
services to maintain a balanced local health economy.  This is to ensure the delivery of key 
targets and in overall terms the majority of funding currently continues to be spent on acute 
hospital services.   
 
The utilisation of available resources in 2016/17, across the relevant areas of programme 
spend, can be seen below: 
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Pensions 
 
Details of the accounting for pension liabilities can be found in the accounting policies and 
pension costs notes in the CCG’s financial statements (notes 1.8.2 and 3.5 respectively).  
Further details of senior managers’ pension benefits can be found in the Remuneration and 
Staff Report. 
 
Risk and Audit Committee 
 
A Risk and Audit Committee has operated throughout the year, chaired by the Lay Member for 
Governance and Audit.  Details of other members of the committee can be found within the 
Members Report. 

 
External auditors 
 
Following a procurement and selection process undertaken by the Audit Commission, Ernst 
Young were appointed as auditors to the CCG for 2015/16 and 2016/17.  Under the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the CCG undertook a procurement process during the year 
and has also confirmed the appointment of Ernst Young as auditors from 2017/18. 
 
The cost of audit services can be found in note 4 of the CCG’s financial statements. 
 
The auditors bring an annual work plan to the Risk and Audit Committee for approval.  This 
states that the audit team are independent of the CCG and also would include any details of 
non-audit work if applicable.  When considering whether the level of any non-audit work is 
appropriate the CCG would consider the composition of the team (and whether any audit team 
members are involved) and the level of fees. 
 
Looking forward 
 
The financial pressures facing the NHS are substantial and well documented, with the impact 
of an aging and growing population leading to significantly increased costs against a backdrop 
of limited financial resources. 
 
Significant pressures continued to be evident during 2016/17, not only for the CCG but across 
the local health economy, and it is likely these pressures will continue to grow over the coming 
years. 
 
The CCG has refreshed its operational plan for 2017/18 and is developing a longer term 
sustainability and transformation plan across the wider planning footprint of Northumberland, 
Tyne and Wear and North Durham, demonstrating how these pressures will be addressed over 
the next five years.  This will incorporate potential service reconfiguration options which will be 
necessary to ensure a sustainable, high quality service for our local population.    
 
The implementation of this plan in 2017/18 and delivery of the necessary financial efficiencies 
represents a significant challenge for the CCG.  There are significant opportunities available to 
reduce variation in services, both from a quality and financial perspective, as highlighted in 
NHS England’s ‘Rightcare’ initiative, and this will be the focus of much of the work in 2017/18 
to ensure best use of the limited financial resources available. 
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Sustainable Development  
 
As an NHS organisation, which spends public funds, we have an obligation to work in a way 
that has a positive effect on the communities for which we commission and procure health care 
services.  Sustainability means spending public money well, the smart and efficient use of 
natural resources and building healthy, resilient communities.  By making the most of social, 
environmental and economic assets we can improve health, both in the immediate and long 
term, even in the context of rising costs of natural resources. 
 
We acknowledge this responsibility to our patients, local communities and the environment by 
working hard to minimise our footprint. 
 
CCG’s Utilities usage 
 
The CCG’s headquarters is based in The Rivergreen Centre an environmentally sensitive, low 
impact building that achieved a BREEAM excellent rating and has received many awards 
including RICS Sustainable Building of the Year 2007. 
 
Heating is provided by two wood pellet burning boilers. As the pellets come from waste timber 
and timber grown recently, and sourced locally, this makes for a carbon neutral fuel.  An 
optimum start and weather-compensated control system determines when the boilers kick into 
action and how hot the water needs to be. The system measures the outside temperature and 
then calculates the flow of temperature necessary to reach a pre-determined ambient room 
temperature. 
 
Hot water is primarily provided by eight solar panels. Throughout the summer the 
panels provide the bulk of the heat. In the cooler months the boilers provide back-up. 
Approximately 60% of hot water requirements are provided ‘free’. All taps other than in the 
galley and kitchen are P.I.R (passive infra red) operated which means less water is used and 
wasted. 
 
Lavatories are low flush and urinals are ‘air flush’ which means no water supply is used at all.  
 
Power is provided by the mains distribution grid. The design of the building eliminates the 
need for power wherever possible eg use of only passive ventilation, light sensors and photo-
cells to adjust the light levels. 
 
Other than in the washrooms and kitchen, the building has no mechanical ventilation or air 
conditioning. Fresh air is provided by passive ventilation systems. 
 
A computerised building management system monitors the building performance 
providing a real-time check on a range of variables including ambient temperatures, 
energy consumption, water consumption and boiler performance. 
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Improving quality  
 
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN)  
 
CQUIN was introduced in 2009/2010 to encourage providers to improve the quality of care 
provided to patients. The framework enables commissioners to reward excellence by linking a 
proportion of a provider’s income to the achievement of national and local quality improvement 
goals. The CCG CQUIN schemes for 2016/17 were centred on safety, clinical effectiveness 
and innovation which were outcome based, including improvements in the screening and early 
treatment of sepsis, reducing antimicrobial resistance, staff health and wellbeing initiatives, 
promotion of healthy food options for NHS staff, visitors and patients and flu vaccination uptake 
within healthcare workers. The schemes were aligned with the CCG’s commissioning priorities. 
 
Clinical quality assurance framework 
 
Within North Durham CCG, and working together with neighbouring CCGs, we continue with 
our structured approach to ensuring that our patients receive the right standard of care, the 
right outcomes and have a positive experience.  We work with all our providers to ensure that 
contracts include relevant aspects of quality and that they are properly monitored.   
 
Within 2016/17, the North Durham and DDES CCGs Quality Strategy (2017 to 2020) has been 
developed and sets a clear vision and direction for the quality agenda for the next three years. 
A number of areas within the quality improvement framework that accompanies the quality 
strategy have been completed within 2016/17. 
 
 
Improving Outcomes for People with a Learning Disability 
 
The CCGs have appointed a Designated Clinical Officer (DCO) and Designated Medical 
Officer (DMO) to work part time on the Special Educational Needs and/or Disability (SEND) 0-
25 years agenda. The aim of the SEND reforms is to identify need early and to ensure the right 
support is made available in order for children and young people with SEND to reach their full 
potential, in conjunction with new statutory requirements and different ways of working within 
education, health and social care. There are other initiatives within the CCG in line with NHS 
England’s 2016/17 CCG Improvement and Assessment framework aimed specifically at 
improving the number and quality of annual health reviews for people with a learning disability 
and improving outcomes for in-patients through Care Treatment Reviews.  
 
In addition to this, the CCGs are determined to address premature mortality and health 
inequalities for people with learning disabilities by undertaking mortality reviews on any person 
aged between four years old and 74 years old, as part of the NHS England Learning 
Disabilities Mortality Review Programme (LeDeR) initiative. This will allow us to reflect on what 
has worked well locally and what had not worked so well, with a view to improving practice 
where necessary. 
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Engaging with our Patients, Public and Carers 
 
At the start of the year the CCG reviewed its engagement strategy and published the updated 
version in April 2016. The strategy included our key principles for patient, public and carer 
engagement that set out how we approached this work and the opportunities we provided to 
participate; 
 

1. have a clear purpose and opportunity to influence, 
2. are Inclusive and accessible, 
3. value all views from across our community, 
4. feedback about how the information provided will be used, 
5. will use the most appropriate methods. 

 
How we have engaged  
 
Building on the already strong networks and relationships in the area, the CCG has continued 
to deliver a variety of ways to reach out and engage with our patients, public and carers. These 
have included opportunities to influence the design of future services through. 
 

 Our two ‘Patient Congress’ events, open to all local people to hear about the work of 
the CCG and contribute to key discussions directly with CCG staff and clinicians. Our 
April 2016 congress saw attendees ‘be the commissioner’ through the use of an 
interactive board game putting them in the shoes of CCG staff regarding priorities and 
funding for services;  

 Attending monthly ‘focus groups’ and ‘drop-in’ sessions held at different venues 
across the area throughout the year. These sessions were supported by one of our key 
engagement partners, Durham Community Action; 

 A programme of outreach sessions to local charities and organisations working with 
specific communities across the area such as learning disabilities, visually impaired, 
food and clothing banks to name just a few. Helping to take the conversation directly out 
to where people are; 

 Our MyNHS membership scheme which provides information about upcoming events 
and opportunities to participate in discussions or learn more about the work of the CCG. 
A quarterly newsletter is also produced and circulated out to these members and wider 
stakeholders; 

 Our Patient Reference Group, which brings together representatives from GP 
practices across the area to raise patient issues and experiences of care; 

 Our Patient, Public and Carer Engagement Committee (made up of patient, public 
and voluntary sector members), a formal meeting of the CCG which reports directly to 
the CCG Governing Body; 

 Through partnerships with numerous Voluntary Sector organisations such as Durham 
County Carers Support and Healthwatch; 

 Investing in Children is an organisation that creates spaces for children and young 
people to come together and discuss ways of developing and improving the services 
and activities that are provided for them; 
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 Using the five Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) which directly involve people in local 
affairs based around what is needed in that area; 

 Through the CCG website and social media profiles on Twitter and Facebook. 
 

Key conversations this year and how patients have made a difference 
 
Out of Hours 
 
We started the year looking at what people’s views, experiences and expectations were of ‘Out 
of Hours’ services. This was concerned with services that were available, during the evening, 
overnight and at weekends. A wide range of face to face sessions with target audiences such 
as families, young people and carers provided a wealth of information.  
 
The information told us what high regard people had for these types of services based on their 
experience of using them. It provided us with clarity about what people were going for and 
expecting from this service which has helped us plan for the future. It also confirmed our 
understanding of how important travel and accessibility issues are for people when we are 
thinking about where services can be accessed. This information has since been used to 
directly inform not only the future implementation of Out of Hours services but the plans for 
‘extended access’ in GP practices to compliment these services too. 
 
Young People’s Mental Health and Emotional Well-being Transformation Plan 
                                                                                        
During the summer and early autumn an extensive period of engagement saw us engage with 
over 400 young people (as well as some parents and carers) across a series of over 30 
events. These events were delivered in partnership with Investing in Children and Durham 
Community Action to help reach the widest possible range of people.  
 
Young people told us that the important things for them about emotional and mental health 
services were: 
 

 choice – in terms of the ways to access information advice and individual support; 
 

 education – so that people have a better understanding of mental health problems to 
tackle stigma, as well as ways for staff in schools to best support them; 

 
 lived experience – being able to speak and relate to someone who has ‘been where 

they are’; 
 

 trust and confidentiality – with the person supporting them. 
 
Draft Sustainability and Transformation Plan 
 
Following the development of the draft Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) for 
Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and North Durham in October 2016, conversations about the 
draft plan and its contents were undertaken. A series of open public sessions, targeted 
conversations with voluntary sector organisations and information being published through the 
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CCG were used to give people the chance to understand more about what was being 
proposed.  
 
All of this information was collated and shared with the CCG Governing Body as well as 
colleagues across the region who were involved in developing an updated version of the draft 
plan. There will be extensive engagement in 2017/2018 as the proposals for how the plan 
needs to be implemented are identified and available.  
 
Graphics used as part of our engagement 
 
Since CCGs came into effect in 2013 their remit and responsibilities for various types of 
services has evolved. Shown in the diagrams below is a summary of the types of health care 
services that CCGs currently have responsibility to plan, pay for and monitor on behalf of, and 
in conjunction with, their local populations. There is also a diagram to identify which health care 
services CCGs do not commission as these are mostly overseen by national bodies such as 
NHS England. We use these graphics as to help people’s understanding at our engagement 
events. 
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Reducing health inequality 

 
Equality and Diversity 
 
North Durham CCG complies with the Equality Act 2010, the Public Sector Equality Duty and 
the Health and Social Care Act 2012. We have demonstrated our commitment to taking 
Equality, Diversity and Human Rights (EDHR) into account in everything we do, whether that is 
commissioning services, employing people, developing policies, communicating, consulting or 
involving people in our work as evidenced below: 
 
Equality Duties 
 
The Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2)  
 
We have implemented the Equality Delivery System (EDS2) framework and have been using 
the tool to support the mainstreaming of equalities into all our core business functions to 
support us in meeting the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and to improve our performance 
for the community, patients, carers and staff with protected characteristics that are outlined 
within the Equality Act 2010. 
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This has been an opportunity to raise equality in service commissioning and gain insight into 
the local population’s diverse health needs and we have reviewed and updated our Equality 
Objectives to reflect this. 
 
The Management Executive and Governing Body approved plans detailing actions we will take 
to ensure that individuals, communities and staff are treated equitably. Progress against these 
action plans is reported to the Management Executive on a quarterly basis. 
 
Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) 
 
In accordance with the PSED and the NHS Equality and Diversity Council agreeing measures 
to ensure employees from black and ethnic minority (BME) backgrounds have equal access to 
career opportunities and receive fair treatment in the workplace, the CCG has shown due 
regard to the Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES). 
 
We have collated staff data as outlined within the updated WRES reporting template for 2016. 
We aim to improve workplace experiences and representation at all levels for black and 
minority ethnic staff. 
 
Equality Analysis 
 
Our Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Toolkit has been implemented into core business 
processes to provide a comprehensive insight into our local population, patients and staff’s 
diverse health needs.  
 
The tool covers all equality groups offered protection under the Equality Act 2010 (Race, 
Disability, Gender, Age, Sexual Orientation, Religion/Belief, Marriage and Civil Partnership and 
Gender Re-assignment) in addition to Human Rights and Carers.  
  
Our EIA process ensures that we can consider the impact or effect of our policies, procedures 
and functions on the population we serve. For any negative impacts identified we will take 
immediate steps to deal with such issues as part of the action plan set out in the tool to make 
sure equity of service delivery is available for all as well as the opportunity to continuously 
monitor progress against challenges identified to monitor and reduce inequality for our local 
population. 
 
The tool also now includes checks in relation the Accessible Information Standard to aid 
compliance with the Standard when commissioning services to ensure that information is 
provided to all service users and patients in a way they can understand. 
 
Our staff has been offered interactive training on how to complete the document as well as 
process guidance within the EIA itself.  
 
Health Inequalities 
 
NHS North Durham CCG has regard to the need to reduce inequalities between patients in 
accessing health services for our local population. 
 
We understand our local population and local health needs, through the use of joint strategic 
needs assessments (JSNAs) and we collate additional supporting data including local health 
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profiles as well as qualitative data through our local engagement initiatives which aim to 
engage hard to reach groups. 
 
We are a membership organisation made up of all 31 GP practices. We serve a population of 
around 250,000 local people across Chester-le-Street, Derwentside and Durham. 
 
Our 31 member practices are organised into three constituency areas – Durham, Chester-le-
Street and Derwentside. Durham and Chester-le-Street cover a mixture of rural and urban 
areas with two main population centres - Durham City and Chester-le-Street.  
 
Derwentside comprises a mixture of urban, semi-urban and rural areas with the population 
concentrated in Stanley and Consett. The University of Durham is home to a large and 
internationally diverse student population. There are significant variations in health across 
these three areas. 
 
People who live in the North Durham area have significant health challenges and 
problems. They are also more likely to die sooner than those living in other parts of 
the country. The main causes of early death include high levels of cancer and 
diseases of the heart or blood vessels. 
 
With an ageing population, we also experience greater demand for hospital services 
and an increase in illnesses related to older people such as stroke, long-term 
conditions and dementia. 
 
Overall, the population of North Durham CCG has grown at a rate of 6.8% over the last ten 
years. This is much faster than County Durham (4.0%) or the north-east region 
(3.2%).  Specifically this can be seen in Durham (7.6%) and Derwentside (7.8%).   Population 
growth in Durham and Derwentside can be attributed to different drivers. Within Durham the 
main cause of population growth has been the expansion of the university, with private housing 
developments as a secondary contributor. Population growth in Derwentside is likely to be the 
result of housing developments in and around the Consett area. The anticipated population 
growth of 18,000 in the region will increase the demand on local health services. The CCG is 
linked in via NHS Property Services along with Durham County Council to ensure that any 
developments are factored into our plans. 
 
The population of North Durham CCG is ageing primarily due to people living longer (rather 
than due to migration). 37% of North Durham CCG’s population is aged over 50 years, while 
8% is over 75 years. The Office of National Statistics subnational population projections 
suggest that by 2030 24.5% of County Durham’s population will be aged 65 and over. 
 
Other key challenges facing North Durham include: 

 Poor lifestyle issues such as smoking, alcohol, obesity 
 Economic inequality related to unemployment and low incomes 
 Children’s health and lifestyles are poorer, on average, than elsewhere in the country 

 
We work very closely with a variety of stakeholders in County Durham through the Safe 
Durham Partnership to combine our common work areas and align our priorities to tackle 
health inequalities. 
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Examples of the partnership working include, the stronger families’ initiative, alcohol harm 
reduction, working with the police service, fire & rescue and other community teams around 
first contact and vulnerable groups. 
 
Through our Equality Analysis process we carry out evidence based service reviews impacting 
the risks for our protected groups when reviewing and developing our services. Our EIA tool is 
developed to make these considerations at the beginning of the decision making process and 
throughout all of the appropriate stages of work. 
 
The EIA is embedded into our governance process and sign off from the Management 
Executive is required for monitoring and completion. 
 
We work in partnership with local NHS Trusts as well as local voluntary sector organisations 
and community groups to identify the needs of the diverse local community we serve to 
improve health and healthcare for the local population.  
 
We seek the views of patients, carers and the public through individual feedback/input, 
consultations, working with other organisations and community groups, attendance at 
community events and engagement activity including patient surveys, focus groups and 
Healthwatch. 
  
As the local commissioners of health services, we seek to ensure the services that are 
purchased on behalf of our local population reflect their needs. We appreciate that to deliver 
this requires meaningful consultation and involvement of all our stakeholders.  We aim to 
ensure that comments and feedback from our local communities are captured and, where 
possible, acted upon and give local people the opportunity to influence local health services on 
their terms and enable people to have their say using a variety of methods; from completing 
surveys to attending events and providing feedback either online, via post, text or telephone. 
We invite people to be involved as little or as much as they like, enabling them to help shape 
and influence the way NHS health services are commissioned.  
 
This year, through our Commissioning Support Unit, we have continued to work closely with 
other local NHS organisations to support the regional working that has been a legacy of the 
Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Regional Leads Meetings. Also nationally we have been 
awarded Equality and Diversity Partner status for 2016/17.  
 
Further information can be found at: 
 
Health Profiles: www.healthprofiles.info 
Public Health England – Local Health: http://www.localhealth.org.uk 
North Durham JSNA: http://www.durham.gov.uk/JSNA 
 
Governance 
 
Equality and Diversity is governed and reports into the Management Executive and the 
Governing Body. The committee ensures we are compliant with legislative, mandatory and 
regulatory requirements regarding equality and diversity, develops and delivers national and 
regional diversity-related initiatives within the CCG, provides a forum for sharing issues and 
opportunities, functions as a two-way conduit for information dissemination and escalation, 

http://www.healthprofiles.info/
http://www.localhealth.org.uk/
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monitors progress against the Equality Strategy and supports us in the achievement of key 
equality and diversity objectives. 
 
A quarterly Governance Assurance Report is submitted to the Management Executive and 
Risk and Audit Committee outlining relevant updates in relation to EDHR. 
 

Health and Wellbeing strategy  
 
As a member of the Health and Wellbeing Board, the CCG has contributed to the delivery of 
the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for County Durham. This strategy outlines a vision for 
improving health and wellbeing and addressing health inequalities across County Durham. The 
strategy aims to inform and influence decisions about health and social care services, to 
ensure they are focused on the needs of the people who use them and tackle the factors that 
affect health and wellbeing. There is overlap between the membership of the CCG’s Governing 
Body and the Health and Wellbeing Board which ensures an awareness of our commissioning 
priorities and plans and how these fit with the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  
 
The CCG’s contribution for delivery is captured within a joint delivery plan. Some key areas 
include the following: 
 

 Implementation of the Local Transformation Plan for improving children’s mental health, 
emotional wellbeing and resilience 

 Supporting the implementation of plan to reduce delayed transfers of care from hospital 
 Adult mental health delivery plan through the Mental Health Partnership Board 
 Management of long term conditions including delivery of the diabetes improvement 

plan. 
  
The CCG shares its draft operating plans for consultation with the Health and Wellbeing Board 
at a number of meetings. These plans detail how the CCG is intending to support the delivery 
of the priorities with the Health and Wellbeing Strategy. This process enables the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to review the CCG’s contribution and provide feedback on plans before they 
are finalised.  A joint performance monitoring report on the joint plan enables the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to review the CCG’s contribution. As part of a planning event, the CCG 
shares its plans at the Health and Wellbeing Board’s annual “Big Tent Event” with wider 
partners and the public for feedback and comment.  
 
 

 

 

Dr Neil O’Brien 
Accountable Officer 
24 May 2017 
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT  

Corporate Governance Report 
Members’ report 
 
Council of Members 
 
The CCG is a membership organisation.  The Council of Members comprises of an individual 
selected by each member practice belonging to one of the CCG’s three constituencies.  The 
individual selected has authority to represent the practice’s views and to act on its behalf in its 
dealings between the practice and the CCG.  
 
The Council of Members has three representatives that sit on the Governing Body, 
representing the views of member practices in each of the three constituencies. 
 
The Council of Members: 

 contributes to, changes and approves the CCG’s Constitution and any amendments 
thereafter, 

 elects relevant members of the Governing Body, 

 reviews and agrees the annual delivery plan, 

 contributes to and agrees the commissioning intentions, 

 reviews year end performance of the Governing Body, 

 holds an Annual General Meeting open to the public. 
 

Member practices are as follows: 

Durham constituency: 
 

 Belmont and Sherburn Medical Group 
 Bowburn Medical Centre 
 Brandon Lane Surgery 
 Chastleton Medical Group 
 Cheveley Park Medical Centre 
 Claypath and University Medical Group 
 Coxhoe Medical Practice 
 Dunelm Medical Practice 
 The Medical Group 
 West Rainton Surgery 

 
  

http://www.belmontandsherburnmedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.bowburnmedicalcentre.co.uk/
http://www.brandonlanesurgery.co.uk/
http://www.chastletonmedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.cheveleyparkmedicalcentre.co.uk/
http://www.durhamstudenthealth.co.uk/
http://www.coxhoemedicalpractice.co.uk/
http://www.dunelmmedicalpractice.co.uk/
http://www.westraintonsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.westraintonsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.westraintonsurgery.co.uk/
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Chester-le-Street constituency: 
 

 Bridge End Surgery 
 Cestria Health Centre 
 Great Lumley Surgery 
 Middle Chare Medical Group  
 Middle Chare Medical Group – Gardiner Crescent Surgery 
 Pelton and Fellrose Medical Group 
 Sacriston Surgery 

 

Derwentside constituency: 
 

 Annfield Plain Surgery 
 Browney House Surgery 
 Cedars Medical Group 
 Consett Medical Centre 
 Craghead Medical Centre 
 Dipton Surgery 
 Leadgate Surgery 
 Oakfields Health Centre 
 Lanchester Medical Centre 
 Queens Road Surgery 
 Stanley Medical Group 
 Tanfield View Medical Group 
 The Haven Surgery 
 West Road Surgery 

 

 
Governing Body  
 
The Governing Body is responsible for ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in 
place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in accordance with 
the principles of good governance.     
 
The Governing Body is also responsible for the CCG’s budget of over £387m, ensuring this is 
spent as efficiently as possible to provide high quality healthcare for the local population. 
 
Further details of the governance framework and organisational structure operating within the 
CCG, including the role of the Governing Body and related committees can be found in the 
Governance Statement.  
 
The membership of our Governing Body has changed during the year.   
 
The following individuals joined the Governing Body with effect from 1 April 2016: 

 Joseph Chandy, Director of Primary Care Development and Innovation (Non-clinical) 
 Gemma Fletcher, Practice Nurse Representative  
 Patrick Ojechi, Director of Primary Care Development and Innovation (Clinical) 
 Karen Wood, Practice Manager Representative  

http://www.bridgeendsurgery.com/
http://freespace.virgin.net/cestria.hc/
http://www.greatlumleysurgery.co.uk/
http://www.middlecharemedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.middlecharemedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.peltonandfellrose.nhs.uk/
http://www.sacristonsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.annfieldplainsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.browneyhousesurgery.com/
http://www.cedarsmedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.consettmedicalcentre.co.uk/
http://www.diptonsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.leadgate.gpsurgery.net/
http://www.oakfieldshealthcentre.co.uk/
http://www.parkhousesurgery.co.uk/
http://www.queensroadsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.stanleymedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.tanfieldviewmedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.thehavensurgery.co.uk/
http://www.westroadsurgery.com/
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Mike Brierley joined the Governing Body as Director of Corporate Programmes, Delivery and 
Operations from 1 May 2016. 
 
Ian Davidson was on a sabbatical leave from 9 May to 31 July 2016 and therefore did not 
attend any Governing Body meetings throughout that period.  
 
Anna Lynch retired from her role as Director of Public Health on 24 June 2016 and was 
replaced by Gill O’Neill, Acting Director of Public Health with effect from 1 July 2016. 
 
Richard Lilly left his role as Constituency GP Lead for Chester-le-Street with effect from 24 July 
2016 and was not replaced in the 2016/17 period. 
 
Chandra Anand left her role as Constituency GP Lead for Derwentside with effect from 30 
November 2016 and was not replaced in the 2016/17 period. 
 
Lesley Jeavons left her role as the Local authority representative on the Governing Body on  
31 December 2017.  She was replaced by Lee Alexander for the period 1-31 January 2017 
and then by Denise Elliott with effect from 1 February 2017. 
 
Andrew Atkin joined the CCG as a third Lay Member with effect from 1 February 2017. 
 
Membership is shown in the table below, along with the membership of all other committees 
and details of attendance at relevant meetings throughout the year. 
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Dr Chandra Anand Constituency GP Lead Derwentside M 
2   M 

9     

Andrew Atkin 
(from 1 February 
2017) 

Lay Member M 
1  M 

1      

Marie Baister Designated Nurse, Safeguarding Children     M 
1     

Nicola Bailey Chief Operating Officer M 
4 

M 
16 

M 
0  M 

7 
M 
1  M 

4 

Daniel Blagdon Engagement Lead, North Durham CCG       M 
4  

Mike Brierley Director of Corporate Programmes, Delivery and 
Operations 

M 
6 

M 
19   M 

8  M 
3 

M 
3 

Nancye Carr Derwentside Patient Reference Group Representative       M 
3  

Joseph Chandy Director of Primary Care Development and Innovation 
(non-clinical) 

M 
4 

M 
20   M 

5   M 
3 

Dr Ian Davidson 
(sabbatical leave from 
9 May to 31 July 
2016) 

Director of Quality and Safety M 
3 

M 
11  

Chair 
M 
7 

   M 
2 

Ian Doyle Chester-le-Street Patient Reference Group 
Representative       M 

3  
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Gill Findley Director of Nursing, Quality and Development M 
5 

M 
16  M 

10 
M  
4 

 
  M 

3 

Gemma Fletcher Practice Nurse Representative M 
4   M 

11     

Dr Angela Galloway Secondary Care Doctor M 
5        

Dr Barbara Gallwey Named GP for Safeguarding Adults and Children    M 
1     

Susan Garrett 
(left 30 September 
2016) 

Type 3 Member – Patient, Public and Carer Engagement 
Committee (PPCE)       M 

2  

Betty Gibson 
(unable to attend 
meetings due to ill 
health, left from 31 
March 2017) 

Type 3 Member  
PPCE       M 

1  

Linda Gorman Constituency Practice Manager Lead - Derwentside    M 
1     

Stephen Hann Type 3 Member 
PPCE        M 

2  
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Barbara Harker Finance and Performance Manager     M 
9    

Richard Henderson Chief Finance Officer M 
6 

M 
20   M 

10   M 
5 

Susan Hepburn Quality and Development Manager    M 
5     

Keith Holyman Chester-le-Street Patient Reference Group 
Representative       M 

2  

Michael Houghton Director of Commissioning and Development M 
6 

M 
17  M 

6 
M 
7   M 

5 

Denise Hunter Constituency Practice Manager Lead – Chester-le-Street    M 
6 M  

   

Brian Jackson Derwentside Patient Reference Group Deputy 
Representative       M 

1  

Feisal Jassat  Lay Member Patient and Public Involvement  M 
4  M 

5   M 
3 

Chair 
M 
6 

Chair 
M 
4 

Lesley Jeavons 
(left 31 December 
2016) 

 
Durham County Council Representative 
 

M 
1        
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Carol Lattin Durham Patient Reference Group Deputy Representative       M 
1  

Joanna Laverick Durham Community Action Representative       
M 

3 
 

Dr Richard Lilly 

(left 24 July 2016) 
Constituency GP Lead – Chester-le-Street 

M 

1 
  

M 

3 

Chair 

M 

 

   

Anna Lynch 

(left 24 June 2016) 
Director of Public Health, Durham County Council 

M 

1 
      

M 

0 

Dr Fiona McConnell Deputy Constituency GP Lead, Chester-le-Street    
M 

7 
    

Andrew Megginson 

(from October 2016) 
Area Action Partnership       

M 

1  

Marion Morrison 

(from January 2017) 
Derwentside Patient Reference Group Representative       

M 

1 
 

Dr Neil O’Brien Clinical Chief Officer M 
5 

Chair 
M 
15 

  
Chair 

M 
7 

  M 

Gill O’Neil 

(from 1 July 2016) 
Director of Public Health, Durham County Council        

M 

1 
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Dr Patrick Ojechi  Director of Primary Care, Development and Innovation 
(Clinical) 

M 
Deputy 

0 

M 

14 
 

M 

9 

M 

4 
   

Healthwatch Rep 

Marianne Patterson/ 

Julie Catherall 

 

Project Manager, Healthwatch 

Engagement and Signposting Lead 

      

M 

1 

2 

 

Pat Rafferty Patient Reference Group Representative       
M 

4 
 

Safeguarding Adults 
Representative 

(usually Sue Nuttal) 
    

M 

7 
    

Safeguarding 
Children’s 
Representative 

(usually Diane 
Richardson) 

    
M 

1 
    

Dr Esther Sheard  GP Prescribing Lead    
M 

0 
    

Dr David Smart Clinical Chair 

Chair 

M 

6 

    

Chair 
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3 

M 

2 

M 
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Gary Stokoe 

(left September 2016) 
Durham Community Health Alliance representative       

M 

0 
 

Joan Sutherland Medicines Optimisation Lead    
M 

8 
    

Sam Palombella 

(left June 2016) 
Healthwatch County Durham Representative       

M 

2 
 

John Whitehouse Lay Member, Governance and Audit 
M 

4 
 

Chair 

M 

6 

  
M 

2 
  

Karen Wood Practice Manager Representative 
M 

5 
       

Dr Patrick Wright Constituency GP Lead, Durham 
M 

6 
 

M 

2 

M 

10 
 

M 

3 
 

M 

4 

 

Key:     Member (M)       Chair (C)  
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Governing Body profiles 
 
Dr David Smart, Clinical Chair 
Dr Smart studied at the University of Glasgow. He qualified in 1981 and became a 
GP principal at Dunelm Medical Practice in 1985.  He was a member of Durham and 
Chester-le-Street Primary Care Group (and later Primary Care Trust). He remains in 
active clinical practice and has experience as a GP trainer, GP appraiser and Clinical 
Governance Lead.  
 
Dr Neil O’Brien, Clinical Chief Officer 
Dr O’Brien has been a local GP in Chester-le-Street for 12 years. He has developed 
a special interest in cardiology and has worked as a GP with special interest for the 
last six years in this area.  
 
Andrew Atkin, Lay member on the Governing Body 
Andrew worked in local government for over 25 years.  For the last 14 years he was 
Assistant Chief Executive for Hartlepool Borough Council with a focus on 
performance management, effective governance and leading major change 
programmes in the Council.  Andrew is committed to making all services to the public 
the best they can be. 
 
Nicola Bailey, Chief Operating Officer  
Nicola was the acting Chief Executive for Hartlepool Borough Council and has 
previously held posts such as Director of Child and Adult Services. Nicola began her 
early career by training and working as a nurse in the NHS before moving to working 
in integrated services between the NHS and the Local Government in Cheshire. With 
over 20 years of working in a managerial and leadership capacity within health and 
Local Government she has had extensive experience of managing and leading 
organisations through change, developing integrated services and solutions and 
working at a senior board level. Nicola now works as a shared Chief Operating 
Officer between North Durham CCG and DDESd CCG. 
 
Chandra Anand, Constituency GP Lead (Derwentside)  
Dr Anand qualified in Medicine from the University of Birmingham Medical School.  
She gained membership of the Royal College of General Practitioners with Merit in 
1999. She has been a GP for 16 years initially in Northumberland and then in 
Derwentside since 2004.  She is a GP Trainer.  
 
Mike Brierley, Director of Corporate Programmes, Delivery and Operations 
At a strategic level Mike has worked with both the public and private sector and 
assignments have ranged from leading a large Informatics service to implementing 
strategic planning frameworks and the development of organisation wide strategic 
plans.  Mike is an experienced senior programme manager and has strong 
leadership skills and stakeholder and relationship management experience; with an 
ability to achieve results in complex environments. He has led numerous large 
scale change and redesign programmes, as well as short high intensity projects. 
Mike holds an MBA and has extensive experience in change management, 
supporting teams and individuals to implement whole system redesign 
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programmes.  Mike enjoys various sports and lives with his wife and family in 
Escomb outside of Bishop Auckland. 
 
Joseph Chandy, Director of Primary Care Development and Innovation  
(Non-clinical) 
Joseph joined the NHS in 1996 as a Practice Manager in Easington. He led on GP 
Fundholding within his practice which developed his interest in commissioning. He 
always worked collaboratively within in his locality which lead to working with the 
GPs in developing his local GP Out of hours co-operative from 1998-2004. He 
subsequently brought together GP Consortiums that have developed Health Centre 
properties in 2001 and 2015. He became the Chair of Easington Practice Based 
Commissioning Group from 2005 to 2012. During this time he was also Director of 
Practice Based Commissioning for Durham Primary Care Trust (PCT). Before being 
appointed as Director of Primary Care Development and Engagement for DDES 
CCG, Joseph founded one of the GP Federations which now exists as South 
Durham Federation. With commissioning organisations Joseph has had advisory 
roles on Commissioning, Estates, IM&T, Clinical and Patient engagement and 
Primary Care.   Joseph took is a part time director taking up the role of Director of 
Primary Care Development and Innovation for North Durham CCG in April 2016 
working across both North Durham CCG and DDES CCG.   He is also currently the 
Management Partner in three local East Durham GP practices. 
 
Gemma Fletcher, Practice Nurse Representative  
Gemma is new to the role of the nurse representative on the Governing Body, she 
has been in post since April 2016.  Currently Gemma works as a practice nurse at 
Stanley where she has worked since 2008 when she was employed by the Primary 
Care Trust as a Career Start Practice Nurse. Prior to this Gemma worked at Bishop 
Auckland General Hospital within the Medical Admissions unit as a General 
Registered Nurse. Gemma started working within health care back in 2001 within 
primary care working for the Spinal injuries team in Darlington as a level 4 Health 
Care Assistant. Gemma has a keen interest in the developing role of practice nursing 
within primary care.  
 
Richard Henderson, Chief Finance Officer 
Richard is a qualified accountant (ACA) and brings significant financial experience to 
the CCG from a broad range of private and public sector organisations. Richard 
trained as an auditor with Deloitte LLP, working with a variety of organisations, 
before joining the NHS in a senior finance role at County Durham Primary Care 
Trust. 
 
Feisal Jassat, Lay Member, Patient and Public Involvement 
Feisal has worked in both the NHS and Local Government for over 30 years. His 
NHS career began in operating theatres where he worked as a paramedic 
supporting both anaesthetists and surgeons in theatre procedures. He moved into 
public health and developed his public health career by working in local government 
pursuing healthy public policy. He moved to work for Durham County Council in 2006 
where he led and managed the Overview and Scrutiny process. Feisal is committed 
to reducing health inequalities and improving the health and health care services for 
local communities. He is passionate about involving people in decisions about their 
health.  
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John Whitehouse, Lay Member Governance and Audit 
John is a qualified public finance accountant. In a career spanning 36 years he has 
worked in local government, the private sector and the NHS. Within the NHS he held 
a number of senior roles in finance but most significantly in internal audit. He lives in 
Hartlepool with his wife. He has two daughters and a growing number of 
grandchildren with whom he spends a great deal of his time. 
 
Gill Findley, Director of Nursing, Quality and Development 
Gill has held various nursing posts in community, secondary and tertiary care 
settings. Recent posts have included Associate Director of Nursing at CDDFT 
covering safeguarding, risk and clinical governance, a spell at the North East 
Leadership Academy and working in NEAS as A&E Business Manager. Gill trained 
as a Registered General Nurse and Registered Sick Children’s Nurse at Great 
Ormond Street hospital in London.  Following a period of time as a research nurse at 
St James’s hospital in Leeds, she moved to the North East and has lived here for 20 
years. Gill lives with her husband in Chester-le-Street and has two daughters. 
 
Michael Houghton, Director of Commissioning and Development 
Michael brings significant experience from a variety of roles in local government, the 
NHS, the private and not for profit sector within County Durham and Darlington. 
Michael has held a number of senior leadership roles in mental health, community 
and primary care with extensive experience of partnership working, planning 
commissioning and improving services for patients.  
 
Dr Ian Davidson, Director of Quality and Safety 
Dr Davidson has been a GP Principal at Park House Surgery in Lanchester since 
2003. He currently chairs the County Durham and Darlington Area Prescribing 
Committee and the Drug and Therapeutic Committee. He is the Accountable Officer 
for Controlled Drugs for NHS County Durham and Darlington. Dr Davidson was 
awarded a fellowship of the Royal College of General Practitioners in 2011.  
 
Patrick Ojechi, Director of Primary Care Development and Innovation (Clinical) 
Dr Ojechi has worked as a GP in Chester le Street since March 2010. He is a partner 
at Great Lumley surgery. He has special interest in Diabetes Care and is the 
Diabetes Lead in North Durham CCG. He is also the Director of Primary Care 
Development and Innovation.  
 
Dr Richard Lilly, Constituency GP Lead (Chester-le-Street) 
Dr Lilly has been a GP partner at Bridge End Surgery, Chester-le-Street since 1985.  
He has been involved in GP commissioning for many years and was Chair of 
Durham and Chester-le-Street Practice Based Commissioning consortium.  Dr Lilly 
retired from his role with effect from 24 July 2016. 
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Dr Angela Galloway, Secondary Care Clinician 
Dr Galloway worked as a consultant in St Helens and Knowsley before moving to the 
North East in 1988 where she held a number of posts in Durham and Newcastle.   
Prior to her retirement in 2011, Angela worked closely with paediatricians in a 
number of specialist units (intensive care, bone marrow transplant, infectious 
diseases and renal).  
 
Anna Lynch, Director of Public Health, Durham County Council 
Anna has been the Director of Public Health for County Durham since 2006. Before 
that she worked as Director of Public Health for Easington and held various roles in 
health promotion, the NHS and within local authorities in the North West.  Anna 
retired from her role as Director of Public Health on 24 June 2016. 
 
Lesley Jeavons, Head of Adult Care, Durham County Council 
A nurse by profession Lesley left the NHS and moved to local government in 1994 
where her roles included frontline services, staff development and project 
management. She took up her current post in 2007 and is responsible for care 
management, safeguarding and in-house provision.  Lesley left this role on 31 
December 2016. 
 
Karen Wood 
Karen has been the Durham Practice Manager lead since March 2016 and currently 
attends Governing Body, IT Steering Group, Online Access, Demand and RSO 
groups and meetings.   Karen is keen to develop cross working and sharing of good 
practice and as such established a working group for Administration staff in Durham 
during late 2016 which meets once per quarter.  For the last 10 years Karen has 
worked as a Clinical Practice Manager in Brandon undertaking mainly management 
but also some healthcare work.   Prior to this Karen worked in the Civil Service for 20 
years predominantly in the area of fraud at middle and higher management level and 
remains a qualified investigator.   
 
Dr Pat Wright, Constituency GP Lead (Durham)  
Dr Wright has worked as a GP partner at Belmont and Sherburn Medical Group 
since 1985 acquiring 30 years of clinical and managerial experience.   Apart from his 
primary role as a GP partner he has considerable experience of clinical research in 
the field of urology. He provides an NHS commissioned community based clinic in 
Belmont, as a specialist practitioner in the management of male sexual 
dysfunction/andrology.  
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Disclosure of information to auditors 
 
Each individual who is a member of the Governing Body at the time the Members’ 
Report is approved confirms: 
 

 so far as the member is aware, that there is no relevant audit information of 
which the CCG’s external auditor is unaware; and, 

 that the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a 
member in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware of that information. 

 
Register of Interests 
 
All members of the Governing Body and its committees are required to declare any 
interests that they have in accordance with the CCG’s Standards of Business 
Conduct and Declarations of Interest Policy. They are required to review and update 
their declarations of interest on a quarterly basis. The registers of declarations of 
interest are maintained throughout the year and include details of when declarations 
were added or removed. The registers are made available to the public via the 
CCG’s website: 
 
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/Final-Copy-of-
Conflict-of-interest-and-gifts-and-hospitality-register-ND-CCG-at-170127.pdf 
 
Where any interests are identified within meetings, these are declared by the 
relevant individual and appropriate action is agreed, including whether the individual 
concerned should withdraw from discussions if appropriate. 
 
Personal data related incidents 
 
There have been no Serious Untoward Incidents relating to data security breaches 
requiring disclosure to the Information Commissioner or within this annual report.  
 
Modern Slavery Act 
 
The CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery 
and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual 
Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015. 
 

 
 
 
Dr Neil O’Brien 
Accountable Officer 
24 May 2017 
  

http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/Final-Copy-of-Conflict-of-interest-and-gifts-and-hospitality-register-ND-CCG-at-170127.pdf
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/Final-Copy-of-Conflict-of-interest-and-gifts-and-hospitality-register-ND-CCG-at-170127.pdf
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities  
 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be 
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has 
appointed the Clinical Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of NHS North 
Durham CCG. 
 
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  They include 
responsibilities for:  
 

 The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable 
Officer is answerable, 
  

 For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning 
Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the 
requirements of the Accounts Direction), 
  

 For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities). 
 

 The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public 
Money, 
 

 Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement 
in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)), 
 

 Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H 
to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has 
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year 
financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. 
The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net 
expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply 
with the requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of 
Health and in particular to: 
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 Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the 
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable 
accounting policies on a consistent basis; 
 

 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 
 

 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group 
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health have been 
followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial 
statements; and, 
 

 Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the 
responsibilities set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), 
Managing Public Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable 
Officer Appointment Letter. 
 
I also confirm that:  
 

 as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
CCG’s auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have 
taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are 
aware of that information.  

 that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and 
understandable and that I take personal responsibility for the annual 
report and accounts and the judgments required for determining that it is 
fair, balanced and understandable  

 

 

Dr Neil O’Brien 
Accountable Officer 
24 May 2017  
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Governance Statement 
Governance Statement by Dr Neil O’Brien as the Accountable Officer of NHS 
North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
Introduction and context 
 

North Durham clinical commissioning group (CCG) is a body corporate established 
by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended). 
 
The CCG’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service Act 
2006 (as amended).  The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of 
services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England.  The CCG is, 
in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such 
extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local 
population.   
 
As at 1 April 2016, the CCG was not subject to any directions from NHS England 
issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006. 
 
Scope of responsibility 
 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of 
internal control that supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims and 
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally 
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing 
Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my CCG Accountable Officer 
Appointment Letter. 
 
I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered prudently and 
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding 
financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control within the CCG as set out in this 
governance statement. 
 
Governance arrangements and effectiveness 
 
The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the CCG has made 
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, 
efficiently and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of 
good governance as are relevant to it. 
 
The CCG has a Constitution based on the model template published by NHS 
England which has been amended and approved to take into account subsequent 
guidance. Review of the CCG’s Constitution confirms that it complies with the 
elements of the self-certification checklist, including: 
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 specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of its 
functions; 

 specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of the 
functions of the Governing Body; 

 the procedures to be followed by the CCG in making decisions; 

 the arrangements it has made to secure that individuals to whom health 
services are being, or may be, provided pursuant to its commissioning 
arrangements are involved; 

 arrangements made by the CCG for discharging its duties in respect of 
registers of interests and management of conflicts of interests; 

 arrangements made by the CCG for ensuring that there is transparency about 
the decisions of the group and the manner in which they are made. 

The CCG has continued to operate with a committee structure which reflects 
guidance and best practice, including Governing Body; Remuneration and Terms of 
Service Committee, Risk and Audit Committee, Management Executive, Quality, 
Research and Innovation Committee, Patient, Public and Carer Engagement (PPCE) 
Committee, Primary Care Commissioning Committee and Finance and Performance 
Committee. Terms of reference have been agreed for all committees which supports 
the organisation in the delivery of effective governance.  
 

 The terms of reference are included as appendices to the CCG’s Constitution which 
can be found on the CCG’s website.  The Members Report provides further detail 
relating to the membership practices, the role of the Council of Members, Governing 
Body and other committees, including membership and meeting attendance records. 
The organisational structure including key committees is included in the CCG’s 
Constitution and is set out below.  There have been no changes to this committee 
structure during 2016/17. 
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The governance arrangements in place meet the requirements of best practice 
guidance in respect of risk management and ensure that a strong accountability 
framework has been established. They reflect the public service values of 
accountability, probity and openness and specify as Accountable Officer my 
responsibility for ensuring that these values are met within the CCG. 
 
The Governing Body has an ongoing role in reviewing the CCG’s governance 
arrangements to ensure that these continue to reflect the principles of good 
governance.  The Risk and Audit Committee plays a key role in supporting this by 
providing assurance to the Governing Body around the risk and governance 
processes within the CCG.  
 
During the year 2016/17 the CCG’s Governing Body met formally on six occasions 
with all meetings held in public.  An annual business cycle is in place, with agendas 
structured to deal with items for decision, discussion and information covering 
strategic, performance, quality assurance, risk and governance issues.  Highlights of 
the work performed during the year by the Governing Body within this business cycle 
include: 
 

 approval of CCG strategic and operational plans, including overall vision, aims 
and objectives, 

 review and approval of CCG budgets for the year, 

 review and approval of corporate governance arrangements including review 
of committee terms of reference, 

 review of relevant Sustainability and Transformation Plans and consideration 
of arrangements in respect of the Better Health Programme, 

 monthly review of progress against plans, financial targets, performance 
measures, clinical quality standards and significant risks to the CCG.  
 

The Governing Body also met on six occasions during 2016/17 as part of a 
programme of development sessions covering a range of areas including strategic 
and financial planning, sustainability and transformation plans, statutory training, 
commissioning support arrangements, information governance and conflicts of 
interest arrangements. 
 
Description of the established Governing Body Committees 
 
The roles of each of the Governing Body committees are set out broadly below. The 
Governing Body committees have authority under the Scheme of Delegation to 
establish sub committees or sub groups to enable them to fulfill their role. Each of 
the Governing Body committees has detailed terms of reference. Each committee is 
authorised by the Governing Body to pursue any activity within their terms of 
reference and within the scheme of reservation and delegation. 
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Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee 
 

 The committee is established to make recommendations to the Governing Body on 
remuneration, fees, pensions, allowances and conditions for senior employees of the 
CCG and people who provide services to the CCG. This includes remuneration for 
executive officers as well as the Chair and independent lay members and other 
Governing Body members. The committee also considers any business cases for 
early retirement and redundancy.  The committee reviews the performance of the 
Accountable Officer and other senior team members and determines annual salary 
awards. It is also responsible for considering the severance payments of the 
Accountable Officer and of other senior staff. 

 
The committee met three times in order to review all senior managers’ remuneration 
for the year and make relevant recommendations to the Governing Body, with no 
further meetings required to date. Highlights from the year’s work include a review of 
the annual appraisal and objective setting template to be used for Governing Body 
Members, consideration of the sessional commitment for the Clinical Chief Officer, 
an extension in the terms of office for the lay members and the appointment of a 
third lay member. 
 
Risk and Audit Committee 
 
The Risk and Audit Committee supports the Governing Body in its main function of 
ensuring the CCG has made appropriate arrangements to ensure functions are 
exercised effectively, efficiently and economically and that all relevant principles of 
good governance are adhered to. 
 
In line with the requirements of the NHS Audit Committee Handbook and NHS 
Codes of Conduct and Accountability, the committee provides the CCG with an 
independent and objective review of systems of internal control, risk and governance 
processes and arrangements, and compliance with laws, guidance, and regulations 
governing the NHS. The committee is a non-executive committee of the Governing 
Body and has no executive powers.   Its work aligns with that of the Quality, 
Research and Innovation Committee to seek assurance that robust clinical quality 
systems are in place. 
 
The committee’s cycle of business includes review of the CCG’s risk management 
processes, including the Assurance Framework and corporate risk register.  The 
committee considers the work of both internal and external audit, together with other 
assurance functions including in particular those relating to North of England 
Commissioning Support (NECS), upon which the CCG is dependent for the majority 
of commissioning support, to fulfil its role of providing assurance to the Governing 
Body.    
 
The Risk and Audit Committee, as part of its terms of reference, provides an Annual 
Report of its work to the Governing Body, as well as providing interim updates as 
required.  The draft report covering the financial year 2016/17 was made available 
alongside the final Annual Report and Accounts in May 2017 to support the final 
Governance Statement.  The principal purpose of the report is to provide assurance 
to the Governing Body and to support the Accountable Officer’s review of the internal 
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control arrangements. The Risk and Audit Committee has a business cycle which 
enables the committee to carry out its key objectives necessary to support its 
assurances regarding the effectiveness of the CCG’s internal controls.  
 
During the year, the committee has fulfilled this annual business cycle, with key work 
completed by the committee including: 
 

 appointment of internal auditors, agreement of the internal audit plan and 
review of progress against that plan, 

 review of risk management processes, including risk management policy, 
assurance framework and corporate risk register, 

 review and agreement of financial governance arrangements , including 
standing financial instructions, 

 co-ordination of the appointment of external auditors from April 2017 in its role 
as auditor panel for the CCG, 

 review and approval of the Annual Report and Accounts of the CCG under 
delegated authority from the Governing Body.  

 
The committee has previously undertaken a self-assessment against both the 
requirements of the NHS Audit Committee Handbook and other areas of best 
practice with no significant issues identified.  The requirements of the Audit 
Committee Handbook and the committee’s terms of reference are used to develop 
the committee’s annual work plan.  
 
Joint meetings have been held during the year between the Risk and Audit 
Committee and the equivalent Audit and Assurance Committee of DDES CCG, the 
‘Audit Committees in Common’ and these are planned to continue in 2017/18.  This 
allows common issues across both CCGs to be discussed together as well as 
providing greater opportunities for sharing knowledge and learning across the two 
committees.    

 
Management Executive  
 
The Governing Body has delegated the day to day operational management of the 
CCG to the Management Executive.  This includes the implementation and delivery 
of plans agreed by the Governing Body.  
 

 As with all other committees, the Management Executive has an agreed business 
plan.  It usually meets formally twice per month and has met 25 times during 
2016/17.  Highlights of the work performed during the year by the Management 
Executive include: 

 
 detailed review of CCG strategic and operational plans, including 

development of a primary care strategy and clinical strategy, 

 prioritisation of commissioning intentions and agreement of a delivery plan for 
the year, including monthly review of progress against the delivery plan, 

 review of clinical quality indicators and concerns,  



 61 
 

 development of financial recovery plan in response to financial pressures and 
risks identified during the year, 

 monthly review of CCG risk register and detailed review of the assurance 
framework, 

 review and approval of CCG policies and procedures, 

 review of commissioning support arrangements, 

 review of relevant Sustainability and Transformation Plans and consideration 
of arrangements in respect of the Better Health Programme, 

 development of integration and accountable care arrangements across 
County Durham with relevant partner organisations. 

 
On a monthly basis the Management Executive meets together with the equivalent 
executive committee in DDES CCG at an ‘Executive in Common’ meeting to enable 
common issues to be discussed together and facilitate joint working across both 
CCGs. 
 
Finance and Performance Committee 
 

 The Finance and Performance Committee supports the CCG to achieve financial 
balance, including delivery of QIPP financial targets, and organisational performance 
objectives, through reviewing performance in-year and implementing any relevant 
actions as required. 

 
 The Finance and Performance Committee met 11 times during the year and its work 

has included: 
 

 development of CCG budgets for the year, followed by monthly review of 
financial position, including performance against the agreed QIPP plan and 
performance against the financial recovery plan, 

 monthly review of activity and financial performance on major healthcare 
contracts, with agreement of relevant actions as required including contract 
management queries and agreement of practice variation reporting, 

 monthly review of performance against NHS Constitution targets and outcome 
indicators with agreement of mitigating actions as required, 

 review and update of relevant finance and performance risks . 
  
 A sub-group of the committee, the Activity and Demand Management sub-group, has 

continued to meet during the year to focus in more detail on the activity and financial 
pressures being experienced on contracts and agree relevant mitigating actions. 
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Quality, Research and Innovation Committee 
 
The duties of the Quality, Research and Innovation Committee are driven by the 
priorities for the CCG and any associated risks or areas of clinical quality across 
commissioned services and primary care services. The CCG also has a duty to 
make the best use of research and innovation to deliver health gain and improve 
patient safety and experience through services commissioned.  A key component of 
innovation is being aware of existing best practice and seeking to embed it in the 
CCG’s commissioned services. It is also required to benchmark practice against 
national and local standards to measure the effectiveness of services commissioned.   
 
The primary objectives of the committee are to safeguard patients from harm, 
develop high quality services and foster a culture of safety. 
 
The Quality, Research and Innovation Committee met 12 times during the year and 
its work has included: 
 

 monthly review of the clinical quality standards of our health care providers, 

 agreement of the annual CQUIN (commissioning quality and innovation) 
schemes, 

 development of a quality improvement scheme to drive up quality in primary 
care, 

 clinical agreement and assurance with regard to the CCG’s clinical support 
information and the rapid specialist opinion scheme, 

 the delivery of a commissioner assurance visit programme and oversight of 
the improvement actions required for better patient experience, 

 a forward plan for clinical audit, measuring the effectiveness of commissioned 
services,  

 clinical agreement of new service specifications and expected clinical 
outcomes for patients, 

 monthly review and management of clinical quality risks, 

 oversight of the programme of clinical research and implications for practice,  

 quarterly assurance that we meet statutory safeguarding requirements, 

 compliance with the safe management and storage of controlled drugs. 
 

 
Patient, Public and Carer Engagement (PPCE) Committee 
 
The PPCE Committee was established to provide assurance to the CCG’s 
Governing Body in relation to patient, public and carer engagement. The committee 
is responsible for developing the communications and engagement strategy of the 
CCG, reviewing, challenging and evaluating CCG engagement processes and 
providing a two way communication channel between the CCG and patients, public 
and carers. 
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The committee meets formally on a bi-monthly basis, meeting six times during the 
year, and its work included: 

 feeding into the work to develop the CCG’s operational plan and the 
sustainability and transformation plan work,  

 developing a communications and engagement strategy, 

 consideration of the internal audit report about patient and public involvement 
developing a resulting action plan, 

 ensuring that the engagement work undertaken as part of the work on the 
CCG’s key activities was appropriate e.g. diabetes and urgent care, 

 review of the CCG’s engagement work plan, 

 receiving regular quarterly engagement reports, 

 receiving regular feedback from the Patient Reference Group, 

 engaging with carers, both adults and children. 
 
 

Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
 
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee, which is accountable to the CCG’s 
Governing Body, has been established in accordance with the statutory provisions 
enabling NHS England to delegate to the CCG authority to exercise the primary care 
commissioning functions set out in Schedule 2 in accordance with section 13Z of the 
NHS Act. The committee functions as a corporate decision-making body for the 
management of the delegated functions and the exercise of the delegated powers.   
The committee makes collective decisions on the review, planning and procurement 
of primary care services in North Durham under delegated authority from NHS 
England. The role of the committee is to carry out the functions relating to the 
commissioning of primary medical services under section 83 of the NHS Act, 
including: 
 

 GMS, PMS and APMS contracts  

 newly designed enhanced services  

 design of local incentive schemes as an alternative to the Quality Outcomes 
Framework (QOF); 

 decision making on whether to establish new GP practices in an area; 

 approving practice mergers; and 

 making decisions on ‘discretionary’ payment (e.g., returner/retainer 
schemes). 

 In addition the committee carries out the following activities: 

 planning, including needs assessment, primary medical care services in 
North Durham, 

 undertaking reviews of primary medical care services in North Durham, 
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 co-ordinating a common approach to the commissioning of primary care 
services generally, 

 managing the budget for commissioning of primary medical care services in 
North Durham. 

  
 The terms of reference of the committee reflect relevant national guidance, with the 

committee made up of a majority of non-conflicted members.  The committee met six 
times during 2016/17, with all meetings held in public. 

 
 Joint committees 
 

The CCG entered into arrangements for one formal joint committee during 2015/16, 
the Better Health Programme (BHP) Joint Committee which met on two occasions 
during 2016/17.  This was set up as a joint committee of North Durham CCG, DDES 
CCG, Darlington CCG, Hartlepool and Stockton on Tees CCG and South Tees CCG, 
with the primary purpose of arranging formal public consultation and then making 
decisions on the issues which are the subject of the consultation in relation to the 
BHP.  The CCG was represented on the joint committee by the CCG Chair and 
Accountable Officer.  During 2016/17 it was agreed that North Durham CCG would 
no longer be within the scope of the BHP and as a result the CCG ceased to be a 
member of the joint committee, although the CCG would continue to be invited to be 
in attendance at the joint committee. 
 
As noted above, Executives in Common meetings have been established with DDES 
CCG, involving the CCG’s Management Executive and the equivalent committee in 
DDES CCG, along with Audit Committees in Common meetings involving the Risk 
and Audit Committee and equivalent committee in DDES.  Neither of these represent 
formal joint committees, with each individual CCG committee making any relevant 
decision in line with existing governance arrangements.   
 
Similarly, collaborative working arrangements have been developed with a number 
of other CCGs, including joint arrangements with the CCGs in the North of England 
to determine commissioning for health gain policies and to review and approve 
individual funding requests, including conducting an appeals process. Again these 
joint working arrangements do not represent formal joint committees and the CCG 
retains responsibility for making any relevant decisions in line with the scheme of 
reservation and delegation. 

 
 

UK Corporate Governance Code 
 

NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance.  
We have however previously reviewed our corporate governance arrangements by 
drawing upon best practice available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code we consider to be relevant to the CCG and best practice. 
 

This Governance Statement is intended to demonstrate how the CCG had regard to 
the principles set out in the code appropriate for CCGs for the financial year ended 
March 2017. 
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Discharge of Statutory Functions 
 

Arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within the Corporate 
Governance Framework were developed with extensive expert external legal input, 
to ensure compliance with all relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed the 
matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the 
scheme of delegation. 
 
In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and 
powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and 
other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the CCG 
is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory 
functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those 
functions. 
 
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead director. 
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability 
and capacity to undertake all of the CCG’s statutory duties. 
 
Risk management arrangements and effectiveness  
 

Our comprehensive approach to risk management employs best practice in 
compliance with accepted standards.  A Risk Management Policy is in place which 
takes into account current guidance on risk management best practice and 
incorporates guidance provided by ISO 31000:2009 (formerly AZ/NZ Standard 
4360:2004) and the former National Patient Safety Agency in its approach to 
assessing risk.  It is also consistent with NHS England’s Risk Management Policy 
and Process guidance. 
 
The Risk Management Policy sets out the CCG’s approach to the assessment and 
management of clinical and non-clinical risk in fulfilment of our overall objective to 
commission high quality and safe services. This includes clear CCG processes and 
procedures to identify, evaluate and control risks. The Risk Management Policy 
provides guidance for the systematic and effective management of risk to prevent 
risk, deter risks arising and manage current risks. Key elements of the Risk 
Management policy include: 
 

 a clear statement of Governing Body and individual accountability for delivery 
of the policy; 

 clear principles, aims and objectives of the risk management process; 

 a clearly defined process for delivering the framework including an 
implementation plan to ensure that the framework and risk management 
awareness is communicated to all staff; 

 details of the approach to be undertaken to assess and report risk; 

 an agreed process for reporting, managing, analysing and learning from 
adverse events supported by a “fair blame” culture and approach; 

 confirmation of the arrangements for reporting risk through the risk register. 
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 Our risk management framework is the systematic application of management 
policies, procedures and practices to the tasks of identifying, monitoring, mitigating 
and managing risk. All CCG risks are, once identified, recorded and managed in the 
electronic Safeguard Incident Risk Management System (SIRMS).  Additionally, the 
CCG assurance framework enables the Management Executive, Risk and Audit 
Committee and the Governing Body to ensure effective arrangements are in place 
for the management of risks to principal strategic objectives and for the sound 
governance of the organisation. 
 
Our approach to risk management ensures: 
 

 risk management is a cohesive element of the internal control systems within 
the corporate governance framework supported by robust risk management 
systems and processes, 

 the organisation meets statutory obligations including those relating to health 
and safety and data protection, 

 all stakeholders, staff and partner organisations are assured that the CCG is 
committed to managing risk appropriately, 

 staff can access support and risk management training and development is 
provided across the organisation by the NECS governance team, 

 updates and guidance reviews are communicated to all staff. 
 
The Risk Management Policy sets out the CCG’s position in respect of risk appetite, 
being the amount of risk that the organisation is prepared to accept, tolerate or be 
exposed to at any point in time. The CCG endeavours to reduce risks to the lowest 
possible level reasonably practicable.  Where risks cannot reasonably be avoided, 
every effort will be made to mitigate the remaining risk.       
 
All our policies are assessed utilising a nationally recognised Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) tool, this process of analysing a new or existing service, policy or 
process enables us to identify what is the (likely) effect of implementation for 
different groups within the community (including patients, public and staff), allowing 
risks to be identified and managed appropriately.  
 
The CCG has a well-established and transparent incident reporting and 
management system which is embedded across the organisation and used to 
identify any related risks. The CCG openly encourages and supports incident 
reporting by ensuring that there a robust Incident Reporting and Management Policy 
and  Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) in place which is reviewed annually and 
that the appropriate training is provided in a timely manner.     
 
Capacity to Handle Risk  
 

Strong leadership and an effective governance structure are vital elements of the 
CCGs capacity to handling risk. The governance arrangements as outlined above 
meet the requirements of best practice guidance in respect of risk management and 
ensure that a strong accountability framework has been established and is 
maintained.  
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The CCG has clear lines of accountability with defined responsibilities and objectives 
relating to all aspects of risk reporting and management. The Accountable Officer 
has overall responsibility for ensuring the implementation of an effective risk 
management strategy, systems and controls.  Each of the directors of the CCG is 
responsible for the management of strategic and operational risk in their specific 
areas, including ensuring that all areas of risk are assessed appropriately, in a timely 
manner and action taken to implement improvements. 
 
The Governing Body has overall responsibility for governance, assurance and 
management of risk and therefore a clear oversight of the CCGs performance. The 
Governing Body has a duty to assure itself that the CCG has properly identified the 
risks it faces and that it has processes and controls in place to mitigate those risks 
and the impact they have. The Governing Body monitors the key risks relating to the 
achievement of the strategic objectives through the Governing Body Assurance 
Framework. 
 
The Risk and Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and providing assurance 
to the Governing Body on the systems in place across the CCG for governance and 
risk management including internal control.  
 
The Management Executive, Finance and Performance Committee, Quality, 
Research and Innovation Committee and the Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee are responsible for ensuring that all risks relevant to their respective 
areas of responsibility are identified, addressed and reported to the Governing Body 
as appropriate. 
 
Identifying, reporting and management of risk is ‘everybody’s’ responsibility within 
the CCG and all staff are familiar with the main risks in their area of activity which 
ensures the submission of timely and accurate information to support the 
assessment of CCG risks to ensure compliance with statutory obligations.  
 
Risk management training is regularly provided to all executive members and risk 
leads / risk coordinators. An annual training requirements discussion is undertaken 
by the CCG risk lead and  NECS Senior Governance Manager (lead for Risk 
Management), based on the findings of the discussion, the CCG risk management 
training plan was developed for staff for 2016/17. To further support staff and share 
lessons learnt relating to risk and incident activities an individually tailored CCG Risk 
Register Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) and a range of risk management 
guidance materials have also been provided within the CCG for staff.    
   
Risk Assessment  
 

Whenever risks have been identified it is important to assess and record the risk so 
that appropriate controls are put in place to eliminate the risk or mitigate its effect.  
To do this, a standard risk matrix is used, as outlined in the CCG Risk Management 
Policy, the matrix in our risk assessment guidance is based on current national 
guidance and also adapted to suit the CCG risk appetite.  
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Risk is identified and embedded in the organisation via a number of mechanisms 
including a comprehensive risk register which identifies current and prospective risks 
to the organisation.  The risk register incorporates the full comprehensive list of all 
risks facing the organisation at an operational and strategic level, across the five 
areas of delivery, development and transition, finance, performance and quality. 
 
The risk register captures details of the assessment of each risk in terms of 
consequence and likelihood to produce an overall risk score, together with the 
mitigating action then being taken to manage those risks. 
 
Each risk is assigned to a responsible director, who maintains overall responsibility 
for the risk, with each risk also aligned to a Governing Body committee based on the 
respective delivery area. Finance and performance risks are aligned to the Finance 
and Performance Committee, with delivery and development risks being aligned to 
the Management Executive and quality risks aligned to the Quality, Research and 
Innovation Committee.  Risks relating to primary care commissioning are aligned to 
the Primary Care Commissioning Committee. 
 
All risks are reviewed on a monthly basis by the respective aligned committee to 
ensure that risks are appropriately assessed and that where required action is being 
taken, with the Management Executive and Governing Body performing an overall 
review of all risks. 
 
All corporate red risks, identified as having the potential to have a significant impact 
on the CCG corporate objectives, are then escalated and specifically reviewed by 
Governing Body. 
 
The Risk and Audit Committee ensures the CCG works within and adheres to robust 
risk reporting and management processes and systems. An annual review and 
update of the CCG’s Risk Management Policy ensures that risk management 
processes and systems are updated in line with current best practice guidance. The 
process for identifying and assessing risks within the CCG has remained unchanged 
throughout the year; see diagram 1 below for the CCG risk process. 
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Diagram 1 Identifying and Assessing Risk 
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Current majors risks to governance, risk management and internal control  
 
A summary of the significant corporate risks which the CCG has faced during the 
year, and which continue to be the most significant risks to the CCG currently is set 
out below: 
 
Risk Controls / Actions Rating 
Delivery of Financial 
Control Total 
Risk of failure to 
deliver the agreed 
financial control total 
and deliver the 
required QIPP plan 
due to financial 
pressures within the 
health economy. 
 

Robust financial reporting and management 
arrangements through Finance and 
Performance Committee and Governing Body; 
Detailed QIPP plan in place and financial 
recovery plan implemented; 
Realistic activity baselines and budgets set, 
incorporating pressures and trend of activity 
growth seen in previous years; 
Contingency funding identified within budgets to 
mitigate potential financial pressures; 
Joint financial recovery group implemented 
across 3 CCGs in County Durham and 
Darlington and CDDFT. 
 

16 

Delivery of NHS 
Constitutional 
Standards: 
Risk of failure to 
achieve NHS 
Constitutional 
Standards for our 
patients.  Significant 
pressures are evident 
in certain standards, 
particularly in respect 
of A&E 4 hour waits, 
cancer waiting times 
and ambulance 
response times. 

Contract management processes in place to 
manage delivery of NHS Constitutional 
Standards; 
Performance monitored in detail via Finance and 
Performance Committee; 
Transforming Emergency Care (TEC) plan in 
place to assist delivery of the A&E target, 
managed through the Local A&E Delivery 
Board; 
Action plans in place with providers to manage 
relevant pressure areas; 
Significant resilience funding deployed to 
support delivery of A&E and ambulance targets; 
ECIP team commissioned to carry out whole 
system diagnostic in CDDFT as part of the A&E 
improvement plan. 

16 

 

The outcomes and assessment of all risks reported and managed across the 
organisation are firmly aligned to good management practice and ensuring that 
effective processes and responsibilities for managing the risks are clear within the 
organisation. All risks are managed and aligned actions assessed on an individual 
risk by risk basis. The CCG is keen to ensure that risk management is not seen as 
an end in itself, but rather a part of an overall management approach that supports 
the organisation in developing achievable management action plans. 
 
Potential future risks  

 
The current pressures on the health service are substantial and well documented, in 
particular the increasing demands of an ageing and growing population which must 
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be met from constrained financial resources. This will increase the pressure on 
current services and potential risks around delivery of performance targets whilst 
maintaining quality and ensuring services are safe, within available financial 
resources.  
 
Significant pressures continue to be evident across the whole health economy, 
impacting not only on the CCG but all local providers and partners.  The draft 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan developed across Northumberland, Tyne and 
Wear and North Durham, with all relevant partners seeks to ensure local health 
services are sustainable over the next five years.  This is likely to require wide scale 
transformation of services with an unprecedented shift in activity required away from 
hospital into community settings.  The implementation and delivery of this plan will 
be a huge challenge. 
 
Other sources of assurance  
 

Internal Control Framework 
 
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the 
CCG to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to identify 
and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically. The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a 
reasonable level rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal 
control has been in place in the CCG for the year ended 31 March 2017 and up to 
the date of approval of the Annual Report and Accounts. 
 
The CCG’s system of internal control includes the governance framework and 
arrangements highlighted in the governance arrangements and effectiveness section 
above, with the Scheme of Reservation and Delegation, Standing Financial 
Instructions and supporting financial and operational policies. The Risk and Audit 
Committee plays a key role in reviewing the adequacy of the internal control 
framework and providing assurance to the Governing Body on the effectiveness of 
internal control arrangements. 
 
This includes, but is not limited to, reviewing the work of internal audit who evaluate 
the effectiveness of the design and operation of the CCG’s system of internal control. 
 
Annual audit of conflicts of interest management  
 
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs 
(published June 2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of 
conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS 
England has published a template audit framework.  
 
This audit of conflicts of interest management has been undertaken by the CCGs 
internal auditors during the year in line with the published audit framework.  No 
significant issues were identified with a good assurance level confirmed. 
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Data Quality 
 
The NECS Data Management service have processes and systems in place to 
assess the quality and completeness of data managed on behalf of the CCG. Data is 
checked at all stages of processing through NECS systems and finally on publication 
of reports/analysis. Data is compared against historic and planned levels to provide 
assurance on completeness as well as with peer organisations in the form of 
benchmarking analysis. 
 
Processes are in place to raise any data quality issues with providers on a monthly 
basis, feedback from these challenges is utilised to alter any processing routines as 
required. The CCG utilises contract levers where necessary to ensure high quality 
data is captured at source and to minimise any updating of data once received by 
commissioners. Reconciliation accounts for each contract highlight any 
discrepancies between provider and commissioner data that are then investigated 
and resolved. 
 
Significant validations steps are in place in all routine data processing tasks to 
ensure poor quality data is not made available for analysis and then subsequently 
used as the basis for commissioning decisions. 
 
Certain data quality issues were identified during the year with a number of providers 
in relation to the levels of uncoded data on monthly Secondary Uses Service (SUS) 
submissions, causing difficulties in understanding the true financial position on those 
contracts.  These issues have been raised with relevant providers through contract 
mechanisms with remedial action plans agreed.  Estimated adjustments were made 
to the data for the purposes of internal CCG reporting to compensate for the data 
quality issues.  
 
Information Governance 
 
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by 
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular 
personal identifiable information.  The NHS Information Governance Framework is 
supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process 
provides assurances to the CCG, other organisations and to individuals that personal 
information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.  
 
The CCG places high importance on ensuring there are robust information 
governance systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate 
information.  The CCG has established an information governance management 
framework comprising an approved strategy, a suite of approved policies and 
procedures, a programme of mandatory training, an Information Governance 
Handbook for staff, information risk management, incident management and has 
also adopted and implemented the Health and Social Care Information Centre’s 
(HSCIC)  Checklist Guidance for Reporting, Managing and Investigating Information 
Governance and Cyber Security Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation. 
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There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious 
incidents.  The CCG has in place a standard operating procedure for the reporting of 
level 2 Information Governance incidents to the Information Commissioner. This 
procedure outlines the scope of responsibilities and details the reporting procedures 
to be used in the event of a data security breach. There have been no information 
governance breaches during 2016/17 requiring disclosure to the Information 
Commissioner or within the Annual Report. 
 
Information governance processes and arrangements are reviewed by the Risk and 
Audit Committee, with the Management Executive overseeing the day to day 
management of systems and processes. The CCG has also appointed a Caldicott 
Guardian (Director of Quality and Safety) and Senior Information Risk Owner (Chief 
Operating Officer). 
 
The Information Governance Toolkit has been provided by NHS Digital to support 
performance monitoring of progress on Information Governance in the NHS. The 
CCG has published the HSCIC Information Governance Toolkit Version 14 and has 
self-assessed as being satisfactory. In accordance with the agreed internal audit 
plan for 2016/17 an audit of the Information Governance Toolkit self-assessment 
was undertaken, the scope of which was to provide ongoing assurance that the 
processes for determining scores against individual requirements was adequate. The 
audit concluded that substantial assurance could be provided over the related 
controls in place around the information governance toolkit self-assessment.   
 
The CCG complies with its statutory duty to respond to requests for information. 
During the year, the CCG received 288 requests under the Freedom of Information 
Act 2000 and four requests under the Data Protection Act 1998. All the requests 
were responded to within the statutory timescales. 
 
Business Critical Models 
 
The CCG is aware of the quality assurance requirements in respect of business 
critical models contained within the recommendations in the Macpherson report and I 
consider that appropriate arrangements are in place to provide sufficient quality 
assurance. 
 
Third party assurances 
 
The majority of commissioning support services are procured from NECS, including 
risk and governance expertise, together with the management of the majority of 
internal control systems and processes, for example in relation to finance systems 
and controls.   
 
A service auditor reporting process has continued to provide assurance over the 
effectiveness of controls and processes within NECS.  Reports have been received 
to cover the period to 28 February 2017 with a ‘bridging letter’ provided by NECS to 
give assurance over the final month to 31 March 2017.  The detailed findings of the 
reports and in particular those control objectives which were not achieved for the full 
period have been reviewed and are not considered to significantly impact on the 
CCG.  Additional controls are in place within the CCG in terms of the review of 
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transactions processed by NECS which mitigate any risk arising from deficiencies in 
these control objectives.  The CCG also has additional systems of control and review 
mechanisms internally over the work performed by NECS which provide additional 
assurance that there have been no significant internal control issues which have 
impacted on the CCG. 
 
In addition to the majority of commissioning support services which are provided by 
NECS, the CCG has also outsourced certain other systems and services to third 
party providers.  The national Integrated Single Financial Environment (ISFE) and 
procurement systems are provided by NHS Shared Business Services and the 
national Electronic Staff Records (ESR) system is provided by McKesson.  There are 
also various other outsourced services and systems relating to primary care 
services, including the Exeter System provided by NHS Digital and systems 
operated by Capita who provide the services of all primary care support teams.  
Assurance over the relevant control environments in place for these systems has 
been gained from independent auditor reports for the year ended 31 March 2017, in 
accordance with ISAE3402.  No significant control deficiencies have been identified 
from these auditor reports with the exception of those services provided by Capita.  
 
The report provided in respect of Capita did not provide assurance about the 
operation of effective controls during the year.  This was largely expected due to the 
operational issues Capita have experienced during the year and additional 
substantive work has been performed by the CCGs external auditors to mitigate this 
risk and provide additional assurance. 
 
Payroll services are also received from a third party provider in Northumbria 
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust.  The CCG’s own system of internal controls 
provides assurance over the operation of payroll, this includes the Scheme of 
Reservation and Delegation and prime financial policies which govern and set levels 
of authorisation, together with subsequent monthly payroll reviews.  Again no 
significant issues have been identified from the review of payroll information during 
the year. 
 
Control Issues 
 
No significant control issues have been identified during the year requiring disclosure 
within this governance statement. 
 
Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources 
 
The CCG has well developed systems and processes in place for managing its 
resources. Robust financial governance arrangements have been maintained 
throughout the year, including the Standing Orders, Scheme of Reservation and 
Delegation, and Prime Financial Policies incorporated within the CCG Constitution, 
supplemented by the CCG’s Standing Financial Instructions and detailed financial 
limits, all of which provide the framework through which the CCG discharges its 
business. This is supported by comprehensive and well established systems of 
internal control which help to govern the effective use of resources. 
 
Annual budgets were set by the CCG prior to the start of the financial year, based 
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on the operational and financial plan, which set the basis on which resources will be 
utilised. The strategic and operational planning process incorporates a review and 
prioritisation of commissioning intentions and investment decisions to enable the 
most effective and efficient use of available resource. Annual budgets, and the 
longer term financial plans, are reviewed and approved by the Governing Body.  
This includes plans to deliver against the Quality, Innovation, Productivity and 
Prevention (QIPP) agenda. 
 
As part of the planning process, a range of benchmarking tools are used, including 
the commissioning for value packs and CCG outcomes benchmarking support 
packs published by NHS England.  These tools provide comparative information on 
the CCG’s spend and resulting outcomes, allowing the effectiveness of CCG 
spending to be assessed and incorporated into strategic plans and budgets.  This 
benchmarking is a key element of all commissioning processes to help determine 
value for money for new services and pathways. 
 
Both the Management Executive and Finance and Performance Committee play a 
key role in managing performance and delivery against financial plans, ensuring 
appropriate action is taken to address any issues as required and providing 
assurance to the Governing Body that resources are being utilised in line with plans, 
and that expected outcomes are being delivered.  In addition, monthly reports are 
also reviewed by the Governing Body, showing both performance against budgets 
and financial targets, as well as progress against the CCG’s delivery plan and 
performance against health outcome indicators.  
 
The Risk and Audit Committee also plays a key role in providing assurance to the 
Governing Body in relation to financial governance arrangements and the 
effectiveness of systems and processes of internal control. A significant component 
of this assurance is the work of the CCG’s internal and external auditors. 
 
Specifically, as part of their annual audit, the CCG’s external auditors are required to 
satisfy themselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of its resources. They do this by 
examining documentary evidence and through discussions with senior managers. 
Their audit work is made available to and reviewed by the Risk and Audit Committee. 
Although the work of the external auditors does not form part of the CCG’s internal 
control environment, their conclusions in respect of this use of resources work 
provides further assurance that the processes implemented by the CCG are robust. 
 
The CCG’s internal control framework comprises several elements including the 
CCG Constitution, assurance framework, risk management, incident management, 
financial management, policy management, audit and governance assurance 
reporting, which work in harmony to complement each other. Controls and 
assurances are monitored through the Governing Body and committee structure as 
described above. 
 
As part of the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF) developed by 
NHS England, the quality of the CCG’s leadership is assessed.  The Quality of 
Leadership indicator is one of the 58 indicators in the CCG IAF, assessing the quality 
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of a CCG’s leadership, how CGGs work with partners and the governance 
arrangements that CCGs have in place to ensure they act with integrity. 
 
The CCG has self-assessed its final performance against the quality of leadership 
indicators for 2016/17 as ‘green star’ overall, indicating the CCG is considered to be 
very good with practice that could be replicated as an exemplar.  This is currently 
being assessed by NHS England as part of a national moderation and review 
process with the final outcome awaited.  The latest available assessment of the CCG 
against the quality of leadership indicator relates to Quarter 2 2016/17 and is 
available on the My NHS website.  The final year-end results for this indicator will be 
available from July 2017 at www.nhs.uk/service-search/scorecard/results/1175 
 
Delegation of functions 
 
Delegation arrangements exist through the CCGs governance process and 
committee structures, as set out in the role and remit of each committee.  The 
systems and processes to ensure resources are used economically, efficiently and 
effectively, together with the related assurance mechanisms highlighted above, apply 
throughout the organisation, covering all relevant committees and delegations. 
 
This includes the governing body which oversees the work of all committees, with 
formal reporting arrangements, together with the other assurance processes 
summarised above. 
 
Specifically in respect of primary care delegated arrangements with effect from 1 
April 2015, the Primary Care Commissioning Committee was established to carry out 
the relevant functions relating to that delegation, with relevant reporting and 
assurance arrangements summarised above. 
 
Counter fraud arrangements 
 
The CCG adheres to NHS Protect Standards for Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery and 
Corruption.  A comprehensive counter fraud service, including an accredited Counter 
Fraud Specialist is commissioned through our internal auditors to undertake counter 
fraud work proportionate to identified risks.  
 
Our counter fraud activity plays a key part in deterring risks to the organisation’s 
financial viability and probity.  An annual counter fraud plan is agreed by the Risk 
and Audit Committee which focuses on the deterrence, prevention, detection and 
investigation of fraud.  Progress against this plan is regularly monitored by the Risk 
and Audit Committee with an annual counter fraud report also received.  
 
The Risk and Audit Committee also receives a report against the Standards for 
Commissioners at least annually and considers the relevant actions being 
implemented to address any identified deficiencies.  There is executive support and 
direction for a proportionate work plan to address identified risks. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer is proactively responsible for tackling fraud, bribery and 
corruption. Counter-fraud requirements and regulations have been specifically 
discussed with both the Governing Body and wider CCG employees during the year 

http://www.nhs.uk/service-search/scorecard/results/1175
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to cement their knowledge and understanding of counter-fraud arrangements, with 
all employees also required to complete e-learning training. In addition, notifications 
and briefings regarding actual and potential fraud are circulated to key staff to ensure 
counter-fraud vigilance is maintained and enable payment systems to be reviewed 
for emerging risks. 
 
Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the CCG, 
the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk management, governance 
and internal control.  The Head of Internal Audit opinion was as follows: 
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Head of Internal Audit Opinion on the Effectiveness of the System of Internal Control at 
NHS North Durham CCG for the year ending 31 March 2017 

 
Roles and responsibilities 
 
The Accountable Officer is responsible for maintaining a sound system of internal control and is responsible for putting in place 
arrangements for gaining assurance about the effectiveness of that overall system. 
 
The Annual Governance Statement is an annual statement by the Accountable Officer, on behalf of the Governing Body, setting 
out: 
 
 how the individual responsibilities of the Accountable Officer are discharged with regard to maintaining a sound system of 

internal control that supports the achievement of policies, aims and objectives; 
 

 the purpose of the system of internal control as evidenced by a description of the risk management and review processes, 
including the Assurance Framework process; and 

 
 the conduct and results of the review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control, including any disclosures of 

significant control failures together with assurances that actions are or will be taken where appropriate to address issues arising. 
 
The organisation’s Assurance Framework should bring together all of the evidence required to support the Annual Governance 
Statement requirements. 
 
In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the Head of Internal Audit is required to provide an annual opinion, 
based upon, and limited to, the work performed, on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk management, 
control and governance processes (i.e. the organisation’s system of internal control). This is achieved through a risk-based plan of 
work, approved by the Audit Committee, which should provide a reasonable level of assurance, subject to the inherent limitations 
described below.  
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The opinion does not imply that Internal Audit have reviewed all risks and assurances relating to the organisation. The opinion is 
substantially derived from the conduct of risk-based plans, generated from a robust and organisation-led Assurance Framework. As 
such, it is one component that the Accountable Officer takes into account in making the Annual Governance Statement. The 
Accountable Officer will need to integrate these results with other sources of assurance when making a rounded assessment of 
control for the purposes of the Annual Governance Statement. 
 
 
The Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
 
The purpose of my annual Head of Internal Audit Opinion is to contribute to the assurances available to the Accountable Officer 
and the Governing Body which underpins the organisation’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the system of internal control. 
This Opinion will in turn assist in the completion of the Annual Governance Statement. 
 
My opinion is set out as follows: 
 
1. Overall opinion; 
2. Basis of the opinion; 
3. Commentary. 

 
1 Overall Opinion 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

From my review of your systems of internal control, I am providing good assurance that the system of internal control 
has been designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being consistently applied.  
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2 Basis of the Opinion  
 
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 
 

1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance Framework and supporting processes for 
governance and the management of risk; 

 
2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from audit assignments, contained within risk-based plans that 

have been reported throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the relative materiality of these areas and 
management’s progress in respect of addressing control weaknesses; 

 
3. Brought forward Internal Audit assurances; 

 
4. An assessment of the organisation’s response to Internal Audit recommendations; and 

 
5. Consideration of significant factors outside the work of Internal Audit. 
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3 Commentary 
 
The below commentary provides the context for my opinion and together with the opinion should be read in its entirety. 
 

Opinion Area 
 

Commentary 

Design and operation of the 
Assurance Framework and 
supporting processes 

The Assurance Framework has been updated throughout 2016/17, and presented to both the Risk 
and Audit Committee and the Governing Body during the year.  
 
Our review of the CCG’s governance and risk management arrangements identified no issues of 
concern and was assigned ‘good assurance’. On this basis we are content that the Board 
Assurance Framework provides a reasonable basis to support the CCG’s Annual Governance 
Statement.  

Outturn of Internal Audit Plan 
 
 

During the year 2016/17 we have undertaken our work in accordance with the Internal Audit 
annual plan.  A table of individual opinions arising from audit assignments reported throughout the 
year is contained at Appendix A.  We have reported our findings to the Chief Finance Officer and 
Chief Operating Officer (and other Executive colleagues where applicable).  Our progress reports 
to the Risk and Audit Committee set out the areas covered by internal audit work during the year, 
our results and matters arising. 
 
All reports issued during the year to date have been issued with an assurance level of either good 
or substantial; and no significant issues have been identified.  The CCG should review our findings 
in order to satisfy itself that any significant control issues have been recognised and appropriately 
disclosed in its Governance Statement.   
 
At the time of compiling this report three assignments are in progress and where the audit field 
work has been satisfactorily completed they have been considered as part of the Head of Internal 
Audit Opinion. 
 
By way of commentary it should also be noted that there have been no ‘limited assurance’ final 
reports issued for 2016/17.  
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Opinion Area 
 

Commentary 

Brought forward Internal Audit 
assurances 
 

A ‘significant assurance’ Head of Audit Opinion was given for the year ended 31 March 2016, and 
there are no material outstanding matters brought forward that will impact on the Head of Audit 
Opinion for 2016/17. 

Response to Internal Audit 
recommendations 
 
 

There is a formal process in place to follow up on outstanding actions to address risks identified in 
internal audit reports. Progress against outstanding actions is reported in regular progress reports 
to the Risk and Audit Committee, with specific attention drawn to any actions where the target 
date has been deferred, or where no update has been received from officers within the CCG.   
There are no outstanding issues that impact upon the overall opinion.    

Significant factors outside the 
work of internal audit 
 
 

Whilst the Head of Internal Audit Opinion provides the CCG with assurances in relation to the 
areas covered by the internal audit plan, it is only one of the sources of assurance available to the 
CCG.  As the CCG outsources many of its functions, assurances from third parties are equally as 
important when the CCG is preparing its Annual Governance Statement.  Although we have 
reviewed the third party reports available, we have not taken account of these in providing our 
overall Head of Internal Audit Opinion.  
 
It is for the CCG to decide if any of the weaknesses identified in the issued reports should be 
included within the CCG’s Annual Governance Statement, and that they provide the CCG with 
sufficient assurance that these key controls were operating throughout the year. 

 
I would like to take this opportunity to thank the staff at NHS North Durham CCG for the co-operation and assistance provided to 
my team during the year.  
 
 
 
Stuart Fallowfield 
Director of Internal Audit - AuditOne 
23 May 2017 
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Appendix A 

Summary of work undertaken 
 
Assurance levels assigned to individual audit assignments 
 

Audit area 
Assurance Level 

Substantial Good Reasonable Limited 
Core areas  
Financial Planning and Budget Setting  √   
Governance and Risk Management Arrangements  √   
Conflicts of Interest (Fieldwork Complete)  √   
Information Governance Toolkit √    
Financial Management & Performance Reporting  √   
Risk based audits  
Primary Care Commissioning  √   
Safeguarding  √   
Advisory 

Not applicable –assurance level not assigned to 
advisory work 

Investment Methodology (Advisory Work) 
Continuing Healthcare & Funded Nurse Care (Fieldwork 
Complete) 
Total 1 6 0 0 
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No governance, risk management or control issues which were significant to the 
organisation or which impact on this governance statement have been identified from 
any of the internal audit reports during the year. 
 
 
Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal 
control 
 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the 
work of the internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads within 
the CCG who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the 
internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available to 
me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their 
annual audit letter and other reports. I have been advised on the implications of the 
result of this review by the Governing Body, Management Executive, the Risk and 
Audit Committee, and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement of the system is in place. 
 
As part of the CCGs risk management processes, an Assurance Framework has 
been in place throughout the year which provides a simple yet comprehensive 
method for the effective and focused management of the principal risks and 
assurances to meeting and delivering the CCG’s objectives. The Assurance 
Framework reflects the principal risks associated with the delivery of the CCGs 
strategic objectives. This includes risks around the delivery of the CCGs strategic 
aims, financial stability including QIPP delivery, and development of effective 
corporate governance and risk management. 
 
The Assurance Framework details with the key controls and assurances in place 
against each risk, together with any relevant action being taken to address gaps in 
controls and assurances where required. This is supplemented by detailed risk 
registers that record the full comprehensive list of all risks facing the CCG at an 
operational and strategic level across the five areas of delivery, development and 
transition, finance, performance and quality. 
 
The Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness 
of controls that manage risks to the CCG achieving its principles objectives have 
been reviewed. 
 
As highlighted above, the Risk and Audit Committee plays a key role in providing 
assurance to the Governing body on the effectiveness of the systems of internal 
control and governance arrangements operated by the CCG. As part of this the work 
of both internal and external audit and other sources of assurance are considered. 
No significant internal control issues have been identified from the work of the Risk 
and Audit Committee. 
 
Similarly, no significant governance or internal control issues have been identified 
through Governing Body, Management Executive or any other assurance process 
which impact upon my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control. 
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As described within the third party assurances section above, external assurances 
have been obtained over all significant outsourced services, including 
commissioning support services from NECS.  No significant issues have been 
identified which impact upon the CCG or this review. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit opinion is set out above.  This contributes to the 
assurances available to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which 
underpin the Governing Body’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the CCG’s 
system of internal control.  The Head of Internal Audit provides good assurance that 
there is a generally sound system of internal control. 
 
NHS Cyber Attack 
 
In May 2017 the NHS was subject to a widespread Ransomware virus attack which 
affected various health organisations.  Business continuity plans were invoked by the 
CCG and NECS, which manages the IT infrastructure across the CCG and that of 
our member practices.  Precautionary measures were taken to isolate our network 
with work then carried out to ensure the latest Microsoft Patch had been uploaded 
together with the latest anti-virus software.  Plans were implemented quickly and 
successfully with co-operation from all parties.  We do not consider that this resulted 
in a significant internal control issue but lessons will be learned from this serious 
incident.  Our member practices, whist on our network, are not currently part of the 
managed domain.  This will be one of the areas reviewed in order to ensure more 
robust arrangements should such an incident happen in the future. 
 
 
Conclusion 
 
No significant internal control issues have been identified.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dr Neil O’Brien 
Accountable Officer 
24 May 2017 
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Remuneration and Staff report 
Remuneration report 
 
Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee 
 
The Remuneration and Terms of Service (RATS) Committee was established to 
advise the Governing Body about pay, other benefits and terms of employment for 
the Chief Officer and other senior staff.  The Committee is made up as follows: 
 
Dr David Smart CCG Chair and Chair of RATS Committee  
Feisal Jassat Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement  
John Whitehouse Lay Member for Governance and Audit  
Andrew Atkin Lay Member (from 1 February 2017) 
Dr Patrick Wright GP Constituency Lead Representative  
 
The RATS Committee has delegated authority from the Governing Body to make 
recommendations on determinations about pay and remuneration for employees of 
the CCG and people who provide services to the CCG.  The committee met three 
times during 2016/17, with details of attendance at the meetings included within the 
Members Report. 
 
The remuneration for senior managers for current and future financial years is 
determined in accordance with relevant guidance, best practice and national policy.   
 
Continuation of employment for all senior managers is subject to satisfactory 
performance. Performance in post and progress in achieving set objectives is 
reviewed annually. There were no individual performance review payments made to 
any senior managers during the year and there are no plans to make such payments 
in future years. This is in accordance with standard NHS terms and conditions of 
service and guidance issued by the Department of Health.  
 
Contracts of employment in relation to the majority of senior managers employed by 
the CCG are permanent in nature and subject to between three and six months’ 
notice of termination by either party.  The Constituency GP Leads, practice manager 
and practice nurse representatives are employed on a fixed term of 24 months.  
 
Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided 
for within NHS terms and conditions of service and under the NHS Pension Scheme 
Regulations for those who are members of the scheme.  No awards have been 
made during the year to past senior managers. 
 
For the purpose of this remuneration report, the CCG has considered the definition 
of ‘senior managers’ within the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 
2016/17 and considers that the Governing Body members represent the senior 
managers of the CCG.  
 
Details of the relevant salaries and allowances for all of the senior managers of the 
CCG can be found in the tables below, both for 2016/17 and also relevant 
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comparative figures for 2015/16. 
 
The following disclosures within the Remuneration and Staff Report are subject to 
audit by the CCG’s external auditors: 

 the table of salaries and allowances of senior officers on page 88 and related 
narrative notes on pages 90 to 91; 

 the table of pension benefits of senior managers on pages 93 to 94; 

 the analysis of staff numbers on page 96; and 

 the table of pay multiples and related narrative notes on page 92. 
 
 
Important Note regarding ‘All Pension Related Benefits’ stated in the tables 
below: 
Please note the amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement 
expected over twenty years. This value has been determined in accordance with 
the HMRC method of calculation, in accordance with guidance from NHS England. 
Employee pension contributions made in 2016/17 have been deducted from the 
total. Pension related benefits shown in the table above relate to the NHS pension 
scheme members only.  The figure shown is not intended to reflect annual 
remuneration received by the individual during the financial year. 
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NHS North Durham CCG senior officers’ salaries and allowances - 2016/17:  
Name  Title 2016/17 

   
Salary 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

Performance 
pay and 

bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All Pension 
related 

benefits 
Total 

  (Bands of (Rounded to  (Bands of (Bands of (Bands of (Bands of 
  £5,000) the nearest £5,000) £5,000) £2,500) £5,000) 
    £100) 

 
     

  £000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 
Dr N O’Brien Clinical Chief Officer 110 - 115 2,900 - - 20 - 22.5 135 - 140 
N Bailey Chief Operating Officer 70 - 75 2,300 - - 22.5 - 25 95 - 100 
Dr I Davidson Director of Quality and Safety 55 - 60 - - - - 55 - 60 

Dr P Ojechi 
Director of Primary Care Development and 
Innovation (clinical) (from 1 April 2016) 45 - 50 - - - 70 - 72.5 115 - 120 

J Chandy 
Director of Primary Care Development and 
Innovation (non-clinical) (from 1 April 2016) 55 - 60 - - - 55 - 57.5 115 - 120 

R Henderson Chief Finance Officer 95 - 100 - - - 30 - 32.5 125 - 130 
G Findley Director of Nursing 40 - 45 - - - 27.5 - 30 70 - 75 
M Houghton Director of Commissioning and Development 85 - 90 4,300 - - 55 - 57.5 145 - 150 

M Brierley 
Director of Corporate Programmes, Delivery and 
Operations (from 1 May 2016) 70 - 75 - - - 35 - 37.5 105 - 110 

        

Dr D Smart Chair 50 - 55 - - - - 50 - 55 
F Jassat Lay Member, Patient and Public Involvement 5 - 10 - - - - 5 - 10 
J Whitehouse Lay Member, Governance and Audit 5 - 10 - - - - 5 - 10 
A Atkin Lay Member (from 1 February 2017) 0 - 5 - - - - 0 - 5 
Dr A Galloway Secondary Care Clinician 5 - 10 - - - - 5 - 10 
Dr R Lilly GP Constituency Lead (until 24 July 2016) 10 - 15 - - - - 10 - 15 
Dr C Anand GP Constituency Lead (until 30 November 2016) 50 - 55 - - - 97.5 - 100 150 - 155 
Dr P Wright GP Constituency Lead 50 - 55 - - - - 50 - 55 
G Fletcher Practice Nurse Representative (from 1 April 2016) 10 - 15 - - - 110 - 112.5 125 - 130 
K Wood Practice Manager Representative (from 1 April 2016) 5 - 10 - - - 15 - 17.5 20 - 25 
        

A Lynch Director of Public Health (until 24 June 2016) - - - - - - 
G O’Neil Acting Director of Public Health (from 1 July 2016) - - - - - - 

L Jeavons 
Durham County Council Representative (until 31 
December 2016) - - - - - - 

L Alexander 
Durham County Council Representative (from 1 
January 2017 to 31 January 2017) - - - - - - 

D Elliott 
Durham County Council Representative (from 1 
February 2017) - - - - - - 
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NHS North Durham CCG senior officers’ salaries and allowances - 2015/16 comparative figures:  
Name  Title 2015/16 

   
Salary 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

Performance 
pay and 

bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All Pension 
related 

benefits 
Total 

  (Bands of (Rounded to  (Bands of (Bands of (Bands of (Bands of 
  £5,000) the nearest £5,000) £5,000) £2,500) £5,000) 
    £100) 

 
     

  £000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 
Dr N O’Brien Clinical Chief Officer 90 - 95 - - - 20 - 22.5 110 - 115 
N Bailey Chief Operating Officer 70 - 75 4,700 - - 12.5 - 15 90 - 95 
Dr I Davidson Director of Quality and Safety 65 - 70 - - - - 65 - 70 

Dr D Graham 
Director of Primary Care Development and 
Innovation (until 30 April 2015) 0 - 5 - - - - 0 - 5 

Dr J Levick 

Director of Primary Care Development and 
Innovation (from 1 July 2015 until 29 February 
2016) 25 - 30 - - - 7.5 - 10 35 - 40 

R Henderson Chief Finance Officer 90 - 95 - - - 17.5 - 20 105 - 110 

Dr L Herring 
Director of Nursing, Quality and Development 
(until 11 May 2015) 5 - 10 300 - - 35 - 37.5 45 - 50 

G Findley Director of Nursing (from 11 May 2015) 35 - 40 - - - 45 - 47.5 80 - 85 
M Houghton Director of Commissioning and Development 80 - 85 3,700 - - 12.5 - 15 100 - 105 
        

Dr D Smart Chair 50 - 55 - - - - 50 - 55 

F Jassat 
Lay Member, Patient and Public Involvement 
(from 1 April 2015) 5 - 10 - - - - 5 - 10 

T Stevenson 
Lay Member, Governance and Audit (until 30 
June 2015) 0 - 5 - - - - 0 - 5 

J Whitehouse 
Lay Member, Governance and Audit (from 8 
June 2015) 5 - 10 - - - - 5 - 10 

Dr A Galloway Secondary Care Clinician 5 - 10 - - - - 5 - 10 
Dr R Lilly GP Constituency Lead 35 - 40 - - - - 35 - 40 
Dr C Anand GP Constituency Lead  35 - 40 - - - - 35 - 40 
Dr P Wright GP Constituency Lead 40 - 45 - - - - 40 - 45 

C Brown 
Practice Nurse Representative (until 31 May 
2015) 0 - 5 - - - - 0 - 5 

M Kersley Practice Manager Representative 10 - 15 - - - - 10 - 15 
        

A Lynch Director of Public Health - - - - - - 
L Jeavons Durham County Council Representative - - - - - - 
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Notes: 
 
The taxable benefits included in the tables above all relate to lease car benefits.   
 
During the year it was identified that the relevant lease car benefit had not been paid 
to the Clinical Chief Officer since commencement of the CCG in 2013.  The amount 
disclosed in the table above for 2016/17 reflects the relevant amount due for that 
financial year.  In addition a total backdated amount of £8,784 has been paid relating 
to the period from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2016. 
 
No performance related benefits have been agreed for any senior officers. 
 
All pension related benefits disclosed in this report relate to ‘officer employment’ 
only, i.e. for any general practitioners, the figures exclude any benefits derived from 
practitioner employment.   
 
Following a review of off-payroll arrangements, all senior officer remuneration is now 
provided through the CCG’s payroll, including all remuneration disclosed in the table 
above for 2016/17. 
 
The following individuals were employed in multiple roles during the year, including 
both a senior manager role and other roles which would not meet the definition of a 
senior manager: 
 
Dr N O’Brien Clinical Chief Officer 
Dr P Ojechi Director of Primary Care Development and Innovation (clinical) (from 

1 April 2016) 
Dr C Anand GP Constituency Lead (until 30 November 2016) 
Dr P Wright GP Constituency Lead 
 
The amounts disclosed in the table above reflect total remuneration for all roles, 
including remuneration which did not relate to the senior manager role.  The relevant 
amount of the remuneration which relates only to the senior manager role is shown 
below: 
 
Name  Title 2016/17 

   Salary 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

Total 

     
  (Bands of (Rounded to  (Bands of 
  £5,000) the nearest £5,000) 
    £100)   
  £000 £ £000 
Dr N O’Brien Clinical Chief Officer 90 - 95 2,900 95 - 100 

Dr P Ojechi 

Director of Primary Care 
Development and Innovation 
(clinical)  25 - 30 - 25 - 30 

Dr C Anand GP Constituency Lead   25 - 30 - 25 - 30 
Dr P Wright GP Constituency Lead   40 - 45 - 40 - 45 
 
The Clinical Chief Officer role involved a total of five sessions per week (0.5 whole 
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time equivalent) up to 31 March 2017.  The remuneration above reflects the total 
amount payable for the number of sessions involved.  The level of remuneration 
reflects the clinical nature of the role and has been benchmarked against other 
Clinical Chief Officer roles and equivalent general practice earnings.   
 
With effect from 1 April 2017, the Clinical Chief Officer role was increased to a total 
of seven sessions per week (0.7 whole time equivalent). 
 
The following senior officers are not employed by the CCG and receive no 
remuneration from the CCG for their role as Governing Body members: 
 
A Lynch Director of Public Health (until 24 June 2016) 
G O’Neil Acting Director of Public Health (from 1 July 2016) 
L Jeavons Durham County Council Representative (until 31 December 2016) 
L Alexander Durham County Council Representative (from 1 January 2017 to 31 

January 2017) 
D Elliott Durham County Council Representative (from 1 February 2017) 
 
The following senior officers are employed in joint posts shared with DDES CCG: 
 
N Bailey Chief Operating Officer 
G Findley Director of Nursing (from 11 May 2015) 
J Chandy Director of Primary Care Development and Innovation (non-clinical) 

(from 1 April 2016) 
 
The remuneration shown above for these posts represents only the share that 
relates to the North Durham CCG role. 
 
The total remuneration earned by each individual for all work across the two CCGs in 
2016/17 is shown below: 
 
Name  Title 2016/17 

   Salary 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

Total 

     
  (Bands of (Rounded to  (Bands of 
  £5,000) the nearest £5,000) 
    £100)   
  £000 £ £000 
N Bailey Chief Operating Officer 140 - 145 4,600 145 - 150 
G Findley Director of Nursing 85 - 90 - 85 - 90 

J Chandy 

Director of Primary Care 
Development and Innovation 
(non-clinical) 115 - 120 - 115 - 120 

 
The total remuneration paid to N Bailey as Chief Operating Officer reflects that this 
role is performed for two organisations. 
 
  



 

 92 
 

 
Pay multiples 
 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration 
of the highest-paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisation's workforce. 
 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in the CCG in the financial 
year 2016/17 was £95-100k (2015/16: £90–95k).  This was 2.2 times (2015/16: 2.3 
times) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £44,703 (2015/16: 
£40,964). 
 
In 2016/17, no employees (2015/16: none) received remuneration in excess of that 
of the highest paid director.  Full time equivalent remuneration for employees ranged 
from £9,900 to £193,340 (2015/16: £9,900 to £186,020). 
 
For the purposes of identifying the highest paid director for this disclosure, it is the 
cost to the CCG of an individual that is considered, rather than the total of that 
individual’s remuneration.   
 
The remuneration of £9,900 relates to the CCG’s lay members and secondary care 
clinician who receive an annual remuneration for a time-commitment below the 
CCG’s normal contractual hours.  As this represents the annual remuneration for the 
full required time-commitment, this is considered to represent the full time equivalent 
remuneration for that role although it relates to a time-commitment significantly 
below the CCG’s normal contractual hours. 
 
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and 
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments.  It does not include employer pension 
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.  Accordingly the 
total remuneration figures reflected here exclude the pension related benefits shown 
in the salaries and allowances table on page 88. 
 

  2016/17 2015/16 
   

 Band of Highest Paid Director's Total Remuneration (£'000) 95 – 100 90 – 95 
    
Median Total Remuneration (£) 44,703 40,964 
    
Ratio 2.18 2.26 

 

 
There have been no significant changes to remuneration of staff within the CCG 
during the year.  Due to the small number of staff employed by the CCG, the median 
remuneration can be impacted by relatively small changes. 
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NHS North Durham CCG senior officers’ pension benefits 2016/17: 

Name and Title Real 
increase / 

(reduction) 
in pension 

at age 60 
(bands of 

£2,500) 

 Real increase / 
(reduction) in 

Pension Lump 
Sum at aged 60 

(bands of 
£2,500)  

Total accrued 
pension at age 
60 at 31 March 
2016 (bands of 

£5,000) 

Lump Sum at 
aged 60 related 

to accrued 
pension at 31 

March 2016 
(bands of 

£5,000) 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at  1 
April 2016 

Real 
increase 

in cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at 

31 March 
2017 

Employer’s 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr N O’Brien 
Clinical Chief Officer 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 5 - 10 15 - 20 109 25 134 - 

N Bailey 
Chief Operating Officer 0 - 2.5 - 85 - 90 - 996 53 1,050 - 

Dr P Ojechi 
Director of Primary Care 
Development and Innovation 
(clinical) (from 1 April 2016) 2.5 - 5 2.5 - 5 10 - 15 30 - 35 140 42 182 - 

J Chandy 
Director of Primary Care 
Development and Innovation (non 
clinical) (from 1 April 2016) 2.5 - 5 2.5 - 5 35 - 40 90 - 95 480 74 554 - 

R Henderson 
Chief Finance Officer 0 - 2.5 - 10 - 15 - 79 18 97 - 

G Findley  
Director of Nursing 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 35 - 40 65 - 70 453 35 488 - 

M Houghton 
Director of Commissioning and 
Development 2.5 - 5 2.5 - 5 30 - 35 85 - 90 498 60 557 - 
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NHS North Durham CCG senior officers’ pension benefits 2016/17 (continued): 

Name and Title Real 
increase / 

(reduction) 
in pension 

at age 60 
(bands of 

£2,500) 

 Real increase / 
(reduction) in 

Pension Lump 
Sum at aged 60 

(bands of 
£2,500)  

Total accrued 
pension at age 
60 at 31 March 
2016 (bands of 

£5,000) 

Lump Sum at 
aged 60 related 

to accrued 
pension at 31 

March 2016 
(bands of 

£5,000) 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at  1 
April 2016 

Real 
increase 

in cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at 

31 March 
2017 

Employer’s 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

M Brierley 
Director of Corporate 
Programmes, Delivery and 
Operations (from 1 May 2016) 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 15 - 20 45 - 50 270 32 305 - 

Dr R Lilley 
GP Constituency Lead (until 24 
July 2016) 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 0 - 5 5 - 10 - - - - 

Dr C Anand 
GP Constituency Lead (until 30 
November 2016) 2.5 - 5 12.5 - 15 10 - 15 30 - 35 64 78 181 - 

G Fletcher 
Practice Nurse Representative 
(from 1 April 2016) 2.5 - 5 12.5 - 15 5 - 10 20 - 25 34 60 94 - 

K Wood 
Practice Manager Representative 
(from 1 April 2016) 0 - 2.5 - 0 - 5 - - 9 9 - 

 



 
 

 95 
 

The table above includes only those senior managers who are members of the NHS 
pension scheme where the CCG made contributions to the scheme as an employer 
during the year. 
 
The figures included above reflect total pension benefits accrued within the NHS 
Pension Scheme, not just those accrued from employment within the CCG.  No lump 
sum is shown for employees who only have membership in the 2008 section of the 
NHS Pension Scheme.  
 
The real increase figures shown above relate only to the period each individual was 
in post as a senior officer. 
 
Cash equivalent transfer values 
 
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of 
the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time.  The 
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or 
other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme.  A CETV is a 
payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in 
another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and 
chooses to transfer the benefit accrued in their former scheme.  The pension figures 
shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of 
their membership of the pension scheme.  This may be for more than just their 
service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies (in which case this fact will be 
noted at the foot of the table). The CETV figures and the other pension details 
include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which 
the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme.  They also include any 
additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing 
additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.  CETVs are 
calculated in accordance with the Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) 
Regulations 2008.  
 
Real increase in cash equivalent transfer values 
 
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer.  It takes 
account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the 
employee, (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or 
arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the 
period. 
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Staff report 
  
Staff numbers 
 
Details of staffing costs for the year and the average number of employees can be 
found in notes 3.1 and 3.2 of the financial statements respectively. 
 
The CCG’s senior officers are listed in the remuneration report.  Two of the senior 
officers are on very senior manager bandings, four senior officers are on agenda for 
change band 9 and the remaining senior officers are either paid on a sessional basis 
or are non-executive members and hence have no agenda for change banding. 
 
Staff composition 
 
The CCG staff gender profile is given in the table below.  This reflects our gender 
representation on the Governing Body and total CCG staff.   
 

 Female Male 
Governing Body 7 11 
Employees 53 13 

 
The CCG can demonstrate fair and equitable recruitment, workforce engagement 
and employment terms and conditions to ensure levels of pay and related terms and 
conditions are fairly determined for all posts, with staff doing equal work, and work 
rated as of equal value, and being entitled to equal pay. 
 
Staff sickness absence 
 
The table below provides staff sickness absence data for the 12 months ended 31 
December 2016 (with comparative figures for the 12 months to December 2015), 
showing the total number of full time equivalent (FTE) staff days lost to sickness 
absence and the total number of FTE years available, based on the total number of 
FTE staff members within the CCG.  This equates to an average number of days’ 
sickness per FTE member of staff of 1.9 (0.7 for the 12 months to 31 December 
2015): 
 
 2016 

Number of days 
2015 

Number of days 
Total number of days lost to sickness absence 83.6 27.4 
Total staff years 43.21 36.8 
Average number of working days lost to 
sickness absence  

 
1.9 

 
0.7 
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Staff policies 
 
The CCG is committed to giving full and fair consideration to all applications for 
employment received including those received from disabled persons, having regard 
to their particular aptitudes and abilities.   
 
To support the human resource function the CCG has a suite of HR policies, 
implementation of which is supported by Human Resource Team within North of 
England Commissioning Support.  They cover the full range of HR issues including 
recruitment, training and career development.   
 
All appropriate support would be provided to any employee who might become a 
disabled person during the period when they were employed by the CCG. 
 
Expenditure on consultancy 
 
Details of expenditure on consultancy services can be found in note 4 of the financial 
statements, with expenditure on agency staff shown in note 3.1 of the financial 
statements.  Expenditure in both areas has reduced in comparison to the previous 
year. 
 
Off-payroll engagements 
 
Following a review of off-payroll engagements during 2015/16, all senior officers 
were transferred on to the CCG’s payroll and all senior officer remuneration for the 
year has been transacted through payroll.   
 
There have been no off-payroll engagements during the year of greater than £220 
per day and lasting longer than 6 months. 
 
Exit packages 
 
No exit packages have been agreed during the year, and none were agreed in 
2015/16. 
 
 
 
  
 
 
Dr Neil O’Brien 
Accountable Officer 
24 May 2017 
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report 
 
North Durham CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and 
Audit Report. Where relevant, disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and 
special payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included as notes in the Financial 
Statements of this report in pages 104 to 121.  No such balances were identified in 
2016/17.  
 
An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at page 122. 
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NHS North Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2016/17

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2017

2016/17 2015/16
Note £000 £000

Administration costs and programme expenditure
Gross employee benefits 3.1 2,044             1,760             
Other costs 4 375,613         372,761         
Other operating revenue 2 (79)                (27)                
Net operating costs before interest 377,578         374,494         

Investment revenue 7 -                    -                    
Other (gains) / losses 8 -                    -                    
Finance costs 9 -                    -                    
Net operating costs for the financial year 377,578         374,494         

Of which:
Administration costs
Gross employee benefits 3.1 1,571             1,430             
Other costs 4 3,589             3,719             
Other operating revenue 2 -                    -                    
Net administration costs before interest 5,160             5,149             

Programme expenditure
Gross employee benefits 3.1 473 330
Other costs 4 372,024 369,042
Other operating revenue 2 (79) (27)
Net programme expenditure before interest 372,418         369,345         

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year 377,578         374,494         
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NHS North Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2016/17

Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2017

31 March 2017 31 March 2016
Note £000 £000

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables 11 1,596 2,681
Cash and cash equivalents 12 157 69
Total current assets 1,753 2,750

Total assets 1,753 2,750

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 (19,849) (20,637)
Total current liabilities (19,849) (20,637)

Total assets less current liabilities (18,096) (17,887)

Financed by taxpayers’ equity
General fund (18,096) (17,887)
Total taxpayers' equity (18,096) (17,887)

The notes on pages 104 to 121 of the Annual Report form part of this statement

Dr Neil O'Brien
Accountable Officer
      May 2017

The financial statements on pages 100 to 121 of the Annual Report were approved and authorised for 
issue by the Governing Body on 24 May 2017 and signed on its behalf by:
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NHS North Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2016/17

Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2017

General fund
Total 

reserves
£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016/17:

Balance at 1 April 2016 (17,887) (17,887)

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2016/17
Net operating costs for the financial year (377,578) (377,578)

Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year (377,578) (377,578)

Net Parliamentary funding 377,369 377,369

Balance at 31 March 2017 (18,096) (18,096)

General fund
Total 

reserves
£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015/16:

Balance at 1 April 2015 (16,214) (16,214)

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2015/16
Net operating costs for the financial year (374,494) (374,494)

Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year (374,494) (374,494)

Net Parliamentary funding 372,821 372,821
Balance at 31 March 2016 (17,887) (17,887)
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NHS North Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2016/17

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2017

2016/17 2015/16
Note £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net operating costs for the financial year (377,578) (374,494)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 1,085 (154)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (788) 1,842
Net cash outflow from operating activities (377,281) (372,806)

Net cash outflow before financing (377,281) (372,806)

Cash flows from financing activities
Net funding received 377,369 372,821
Net cash inflow from financing activities 377,369 372,821

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 12 88 15

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 69 54

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 157 69
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NHS North Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2016/17

Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of CCGs shall meet the accounting requirements of the 
Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2016/17 issued by the Department of 
Health. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial 
Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to CCGs, as determined by HM 
Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Group Accounting Manual 
permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the 
particular circumstances of the CCG for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The 
particular policies adopted by the CCG are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with 
items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the 
future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.

Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same 
assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set 
of Financial Statements.  If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the 
going concern basis.

1.2 Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation 
of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3 Acquisitions and Discontinued Operations

Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are 
considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they 
transfer from one public sector body to another.

1.4 Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group

Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the 
Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual 
does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for under merger 
accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in 
the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within 
the public sector.  Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.

Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 
and similarly give rise to income and expenditure entries.
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NHS North Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2016/17

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.5 Pooled Budgets

Where the CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service 
Act 2006 the CCG accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the 
activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.

If the CCG is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the CCG recognises:
                the assets the CCG controls;
                the liabilities the CCG incurs;
                the expenses the CCG incurs; and,
                the CCG’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.

If the CCG is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above, the CCG recognises:
                the CCG’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the assets);
                the CCG’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,
                the CCG’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

1.6 Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the CCG’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying 
assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.

1.6.1  Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management 
has made in the process of applying the CCG’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements:
•  determining whether income and expenditure should be disclosed as either administrative or programme 
expenditure; 
•  determining whether a substantial transfer of risks and rewards has occurred in relation to leased assets;
•  determining whether a provision or contingent liability should be recognised in respect of certain potential future 
obligations, particularly in respect of continuing healthcare.

1.6.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the CCG’s 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

•  the assumptions applied in the estimation of activity not yet invoiced, including partially completed treatment 
spells as at the Statement of Financial Position date;    
•  the estimate of potential future liabilities in respect of continuing healthcare services;
•  the estimate of prescribing expenditure for the final two months of the year based on the ten months of actual 
charges received from the Prescription Pricing Division. 

1.7  Revenue

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is 
deferred.
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NHS North Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2016/17

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.8 Employee Benefits

1.8.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received 
from employees, including any bonuses earned but not yet taken.

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial 
statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.8.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an 
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under 
the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that 
would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the 
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of participating in the 
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the 
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the CCG 
commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

1.9 Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. 
They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive 
obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.10 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to 
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.10.1 The CCG as Lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease 
incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.11 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more 
than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on 
demand and that form an integral part of the CCG’s cash management.
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NHS North Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2016/17
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.12 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that the CCG will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a 
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present 
value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:

                Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 2.70% (2015/16: minus 1.55%)
                Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.95% (2015/16: minus 1.00%)
                Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 0.80% (2015/16: plus 0.80%)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

A restructuring provision is recognised when the CCG has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring 
and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement 
the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision 
includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both 
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.13 Clinical Negligence Costs

The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the CCG pays an annual contribution to 
the NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to 
expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases 
the legal liability remains with the CCG.

1.14 Non-clinical Risk Pooling

The CCG participates in the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. This is a risk pooling scheme under which the 
CCG pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs 
of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims 
are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.15 Continuing healthcare risk pooling

In 2014/15 a risk pool scheme was introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods 
prior to 31 March 2013.  Under the scheme CCG's contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the 
claims.  Any claims after the 31 March 2013 are managed as part of the CCGs normal business.

1.16 Contingencies

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the CCG, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to 
settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is 
disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the CCG. A 
contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.17 Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when the CCG becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case 
of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the 
contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
                Held to maturity investments;
                Available for sale financial assets; and,
                Loans and receivables.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition.

All CCG assets have been classified as loans and receivables.

1.17.1 Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not 
quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less any impairment.  Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life 
of the financial asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset.

At the end of the reporting period, the CCG assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair 
value through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if 
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the 
asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date the impairment is 
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

1.18 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the Statement of Financial Position when the CCG becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services 
have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the 
liability has been paid or has expired.

Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially 
recognised at fair value.

1.18.1 Other Financial Liabilities

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, except for loans from the Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net 
carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
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1.19 Value Added Tax

1.20 Losses and Special Payments

1.21 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted

2. Other Operating Revenue
2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2015/16
Admin Programme Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Non-patient care services to other bodies -                     71                  71                  26                  
Other revenue -                     8                    8                    1                    
Total other operating revenue -                     79                  79                  27                  

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health 
service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special 
control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way 
that individual cases are handled.

Most of the activities of the CCG are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on 
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised 
purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

Programme revenue is revenue received that is directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the CCG 
and credited to the General Fund.

Revenue is totally from the supply of services. The CCG receives no revenue from the sale of goods.

                IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (application from 1 January 2018)

                IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts (not applicable to DH group bodies)

                IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019)

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2016/17, were they applied in 
that year.

The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 
2016/17, all of which are subject to consultation:

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including 
losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the CCG not been bearing its own risks (with insurance 
premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

                IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers (application from 1 January 2018)
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3. Employee benefits and staff numbers

3.1 Employee benefits 2016/17

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 1,668           1,614             54                1,269           1,215           54                399              399              -                   
Social security costs 171              171                -                   137              137              -                   34                34                -                   
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 205              205                -                   165              165              -                   40                40                -                   
Gross employee benefits expenditure 2,044           1,990             54                1,571           1,517           54                473              473              -                   

No amounts were recovered in respect of employee benefits and no employee benefits were capitalised during the year (2015/16: none).

3.1 Employee benefits (prior year) 2015/16

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 1,453           1,387             66                1,180           1,114           66                273              273              -                   
Social security costs 126              126                -                   105              105              -                   21                21                -                   
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 181              181                -                   145              145              -                   36                36                -                   
Gross employee benefits expenditure 1,760           1,694             66                1,430           1,364           66                330              330              -                   

3.2 Average number of people employed
2015/16

Total
Permanently 

employed Other Total
Number Number Number Number

Total 37 36 1 34

None of the above people were engaged on capital projects (2015/16: none).

3.3  Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
2016/17 2015/16
Number Number

Total Days Lost 84                  27                
Total Staff Years 43                  36                
Average working Days Lost 2                    1                  

The staff sickness absence data for 2016/17 is based on the 12 months ended 31 December 2016 (2015/16: 12 months ended 31 December 2015).

No staff retired early on ill health grounds during the financial year (2015/16: none).

2016/17

Admin ProgrammeTotal

Total Admin Programme
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3. Employee benefits and staff numbers (continued)

3.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

No exit packages have been agreed in the financial year (2015/16: none).

3.5 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the 
benefits payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at 
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.

The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and 
other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The Scheme 
is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying 
scheme assets and liabilities.

Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG 
of participating in the Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the Scheme for the 
accounting period.

The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an 
accounting valuation every year. An outline of these follows:

3.5.1 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the 
Scheme (taking into account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution 
rates to be paid by employers and scheme members. The last such valuation, which determined current 
contribution rates was undertaken as at 31 March 2012 and covered the period from 1 April 2008 to that 
date. Details can be found on the pension scheme website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. 

For 2016/17, employers’ contributions of £204,411 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme 
(2015/16: £180,766) were payable to the NHS Pension Scheme at the rate of 14.3% of pensionable pay.  
The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on HMT 
Valuation Directions, following a full scheme valuation.  The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 
and was published on the Government website on 9 June 2012.  These costs are included in the NHS 
Pension line of note 3.1.
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4. Operating expenses
2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2015/16
Admin Programme Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000
Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members 799              473              1,272           1,121           
Executive governing body members 772              -                  772              639              
Total gross employee benefits 1,571           473              2,044           1,760           

Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England 2,760           1,552           4,312           3,968           
Services from foundation trusts 30                240,571       240,601       238,660       
Services from other NHS trusts -                  439              439              634              
Services from other WGA bodies -                  4                  4                  -                  
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies -                  49,252         49,252         47,792         
Chair and Non Executive Members 237              -                  237              256              
Supplies and services – clinical -                  486              486              721              
Supplies and services – general 32                735              767              138              
Consultancy services 11                2                  13                37                
Establishment 93                111              204              169              
Transport 2                  -                  2                  3                  
Premises 214              1,619           1,833           1,420           
Audit fees 57                -                  57                63                
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·          Other services 1                  -                  1                  -                  
Prescribing costs -                  44,952         44,952         44,794         
Pharmaceutical services -                  165              165              295              
Primary Medical Services Costs (GPMS/APMS and PCTMS) -                  31,458         31,458         32,083         
Other professional fees excl. audit 132              131              263              281              
Clinical negligence 5                  -                  5                  5                  
Education and training 15                19                34                122              
CHC Risk Pool contributions -                  528              528              1,320           
Total other costs 3,589           372,024       375,613       372,761       

Total operating expenses 5,160           372,497       377,657       374,521       
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5.1 Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2016/17 2016/17 2015/16 2015/16
Number £000 Number £000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the year 13,225 88,814 11,056 59,471
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 13,060 88,211 10,837 58,168
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 98.75% 99.32% 98.02% 97.81%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the year 2,517 249,398 2,362 244,970
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 2,495 248,915 2,334 243,594
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 99.13% 99.81% 98.81% 99.44%

5.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

There were no payments made in respect of late payments of commercial debts in 2016/17 (2015/16: none).

6. Income Generation Activities

The CCG does not undertake any income generation activities (2015/16: none).

7. Investment revenue

There was no investment revenue in 2016/17 (2015/16: none).

8. Other gains and losses

There were no other gains and losses in 2016/17 (2015/16: none).

9. Finance costs

There were no finance costs in 2016/17 (2015/16: none).

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of 
receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.
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10. Operating Leases

10.1 As lessee

10.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2015/16

Buildings Other Total Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments 1,769           26                1,795           1,374           
Total 1,769           26                1,795           1,374           

10.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2015/16

Buildings Other Total Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Payable:
No later than one year 154              19                173              172              
Between one and five years -                   8                  8                  168              
Total 154              27                181              340              

During 2014/15, the CCG agreed a lease with NHS Property Services Limited for the occupation of the 
Rivergreen Centre.  The lease is for a period of 5 years, with effect from 1 April 2013, and includes an annual 
rental charge of £154k.  In respect of all other properties, while our arrangements with NHS Property Services 
Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, the rental charge for future years has not yet been agreed.  
Consequently, this note only includes future minimum lease payments for the Rivergreen Centre and not for these 
other arrangements.

The CCG occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Limited.  The charges shown in Note 
10.1.1 from NHS Property Services Limited are intended to reflect the cost of occupancy, or void space, 
attributable to the CCG.  During 2015/16 this was calculated on a cost recovery basis by NHS Property Services 
Limited.  For 2016/17 this charging mechanism changed with charges from NHS Property Services Limited now 
based on market rents.  

The CCG has entered into a small number of formal operating lease arrangements, relating to leased cars and 
the lease of photocopying equipment, none of which are individually significant.  Specific lease terms vary by 
individual arrangement but are based upon standard practice for the type of arrangement involved.
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11.  Trade and other receivables Current Non-current Current Non-current
31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2016

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS receivables: Revenue 626                   -                        890                   -                        
NHS prepayments 308                   -                        586                   -                        
NHS accrued income 85                      -                        -                        -                        
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 107                   -                        157                   -                        
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 396                   -                        93                      -                        
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income 17                      -                        903                   -                        
VAT 57                      -                        48                      -                        
Other receivables -                        -                        4                        -                        
Total Trade and other receivables 1,596                -                        2,681                -                        

Total current and non current 1,596                2,681                

11.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

By up to three months 14                      -                        
By three to six months 82                      260                   
By more than six months 222                   6                        
Total 318                   266                   

£305k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.

The CCG did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016: none).

11.2  Provision for impairment of receivables

The great majority of trade is with other NHS bodies, including other CCGs as commissioners for NHS patient care services.  As 
CCGs are funded by Government to commission NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.

The CCG has reviewed all receivables to determine whether an impairment value is required.  In determining the recoverability 
of a receivable, the CCG considers any change in credit quality of the receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to 
the reporting date.  The overall level of credit risk is considered to be relatively low due to the proportion of the customer base 
which is comprised of NHS bodies.

The CCG did not hold any provision for impairment of receivables during 2016/17 (2015/16: £nil).
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12. Cash and cash equivalents

2016/17 2015/16
£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 69                   54                   
Net change in year 88                   15                   
Balance at 31 March 157                 69                   

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service 157                 69                   
Cash and cash equivalents as in Statement of Financial Position 157                 69                   

Balance at 31 March 157                 69                   

The CCG held £nil cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2017 on behalf of patients (31 March 2016: £nil).

13. Trade and other payables
Current Non-current Current Non-current

31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2016
£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS payables: revenue 1,562              -                      1,973              -                      
NHS accruals 3,949              -                      5,062              -                      
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 2,292              -                      3,047              -                      
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 11,504            -                      10,326            -                      
Social security costs 32                   -                      26                   -                      
Tax 34                   -                      29                   -                      
Other payables 476                 -                      174                 -                      
Total Trade and Other Payables 19,849            -                      20,637            -                      

Total current and non-current 19,849            20,637            

Other payables include £275k in respect of outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016: £33k).

14. Provisions

There were no provisions to recognise in the financial statements at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016: none).

15. Contingencies

There were no contingent assets or liabilities at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016: none).

At 31 March 2017, the CCG had no liabilities due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability for early 
retirement over 5 years (31 March 2016: none).
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16. Commitments

17. Financial instruments

17.1 Financial risk management

17.1.1 Currency risk

17.1.2 Interest rate risk

17.1.3 Credit risk

17.1.4 Liquidity risk

The CCG has no borrowings and has only limited powers to borrow funds from government for capital 
expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The CCG therefore has low exposure to 
interest rate fluctuations.

Because the majority of the CCG's revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the CCG has low exposure to 
credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as 
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources 
voted annually by Parliament. The CCG draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The CCG 
is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during 
the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

As the CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced 
by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than 
would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The CCG has 
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-
day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the CCG in undertaking its 
activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined 
formally within the CCG's standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury 
activity is subject to review by the CCG's internal auditors.

The CCG is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities 
being in the UK and sterling based. The CCG has no overseas operations. The CCG therefore has low 
exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

There were no contracted or non-cancellable contracts entered into by the CCG at 31 March 2017 which are 
not otherwise included in these financial statements (31 March 2016: none).
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17. Financial instruments (continued)

17.2 Financial assets

Loans and 
Receivables Total

Loans and 
Receivables Total

31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2016
£000 £000 £000 £000

Receivables:
·          NHS 711                 711                 890                 890                 
·          Non-NHS 124                 124                 1,060              1,060              
Cash at bank and in hand 157                 157                 69                   69                   
Other financial assets -                      -                      4                     4                     
Total at 31 March 2017 992                 992                 2,023              2,023              

17.3 Financial liabilities

Other Total Other Total
31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2016

£000 £000 £000 £000

Payables:
·          NHS 5,511              5,511              7,035              7,035              
·          Non-NHS 14,272            14,272            13,547            13,547            
Total at 31 March 2017 19,783            19,783            20,582            20,582            

18. Operating segments

19. Pooled budgets

No other pooled budget arrangements were in place during either 2016/17 or 2015/16. 

The CCG contribution to the pooled budget in 2016/17 was £17,754k which was used to commission a range 
of health and social care services in line with the agreed objectives of the Better Care Fund (2015/16: 
£17,226k).  This contribution to the BCF is recognised within the financial statements as CCG expenditure.

The CCG entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Durham County Council and Durham Dales, 
Easington and Sedgefield CCG in respect of the Better Care Fund (BCF), with effect from 1 April 2015, 
through a section 75 agreement.  The BCF operates under a lead commissioner arrangement, with services 
being commissioned by a lead organisation on behalf of the pooled budget, rather than being a jointly 
controlled operation or jointly controlled asset arrangement.

The CCG has considered the definition of an operating segment contained within IFRS 8 in determining its 
operating segments, in particular considering the internal reporting to the CCG's Governing Body, considered 
to be the 'chief operating decision maker' of the CCG, which was used for the purpose of resource allocation 
and assessment of performance.

All activity performed by the CCG relates to its role as a commissioner of healthcare for its relevant population.  
As a result, the CCG considers that it has only one operating segment, being the commissioning of healthcare 
services.

An analysis of both the income and expenditure and net assets relating to the segment can be found in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure and Statement of Financial Position respectively.
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20. Related party transactions

CCG Governing Body member Related Party

Payments 
to Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party

Amounts 
due from 

Related 
Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

Cedars Medical Group 739             -               2              -              
Derwentside Healthcare Limited 459             -               216          -              

A Atkin
Lay Member

Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield 
(DDES) CCG 3,088          625          440          206         

L Alexander / D Elliott
Durham County Council Durham County Council 22,841        7,913       262          48           

N Bailey
Chief Operating Officer DDES CCG 3,088          625          440          206         

North of England Commissioning Support Unit 4,431          85            22            85           
County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust (CDDFT) 149,026      -               1,560       308         

DDES CCG 3,088          625          440          206         

Shinwell Medical Group -                  1              -               -              

Lanchester Medical Centre 654             6              1              1             
Derwentside Healthcare Limited 459             -               216          -              
Durham County Council 22,841        7,913       262          48           

Helen McCardle Care 298             -               4              -              
DDES CCG 3,088          625          440          206         

Stanley Medical Centre 1,345          16            14            3             
Durham County Council 22,841        7,913       262          48           
Derwentside Healthcare Limited 459             -               216          -              

St Cuthberts Hospice 682             -               -               -              
Darlington CCG 116             150          15            246         
Durham County Council 22,841        7,913       262          48           

Durham County Council 22,841        7,913       262          48           
Tees Esk and Wear Valley (TEWV) NHS 
Foundation Trust 37,127        21            36            -              

Bridge End Surgery 1,005          5              3              -              
Chester le Street Health Ltd 104             -               112          -              
Claypath Medical Group 2,469          28            6              -              

Durham County Council 22,841        7,913       262          48           
DDES CCG 3,088          625          440          206         

CDDFT 149,026      -               1,560       308         
Great Lumley Practice 592             9              2              2             
Chester le Street Health Federation 104             -               112          -              

Cestria Health Centre 1,740          10            42            2             
Chester le Street Health Federation 104             -               112          -              
CDDFT 149,026      -               1,560       308         
Academic Health Science Network 15               -               -               -              

Dunelm Medical Practice 1,389          1              1              1             
Vocare 288             -               -               39           
Central Durham GP Providers Limited 352             -               -               -              
TEWV 37,127        21            36            -              
CDDFT 149,026      -               1,560       308         

DDES CCG 3,088          625          440          206         
CDDFT 149,026      -               1,560       308         

Brandon Lane GP Surgery 291             -               1              -              
Central Durham GP Providers Limited 352             -               -               -              

Belmont and Sherburn Medical Group 998             -               3              -              
Dr Wright Erectile Dysfunction clinic 32               -               -               -              
Central Durham GP Providers Limited 352             -               -               -              

• NHS England; • NHS Foundation Trusts;
• NHS Trusts; • NHS Litigation Authority; and,
• NHS Business Services Authority.

Dr A Galloway
Secondary Care Clinician

Dr D Smart
Chair

J Whitehouse                                          
Lay Member

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the CCG has had a significant number of material 
transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:

In addition, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local 
government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Durham County Council.

During the year the CCG has undertaken transactions with the following CCG Governing Body members or members of the key 
management staff, or parties related to any of them:

G Findley
Director of Nursing

All of these transactions were undertaken under standard terms and conditions in the normal course of business.

Dr R Lilly        
GP Constituency Lead

A Lynch / G O'Neil
Director of Public Health

Dr P Ojechi
Director of Primary Care 
Development (clinical)

L Jeavons
Durham County Council 
Representative

Dr I Davidson
Director of Quality and Safety

G Fletcher
Practice Nurse

Dr N O'Brien
Chief Clinical Officer

Dr C Anand
GP Constituency Lead

K Wood
Practice Manager

Dr P Wright
GP Constituency Lead

M Brierley
Director of Corporate 
Programmes, Delivery and 
Operations

J Chandy
Director of Primary Care 
Development (non-clinical)
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20. Related party transactions (continued)

2015/16 comparative figures:

CCG Governing Body member Related Party

Payments 
to Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party

Amounts 
due from 

Related 
Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

North of England CSU 3,967        2              1              16            
N Bailey
Chief Operating Officer

Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield (DDES) 
CCG 2               -               2,430       117          

Derwentside Healthcare Ltd 237           -               46            -               
Drs Lambert and NG 714           -               5              -               

North of England CSU 3,967        2              1              16            

Parkhouse Surgery / Lanchester Medical Centre 710           -               5              -               
Derwentside Healthcare Ltd 237           -               46            -               

St Cuthberts Hospice 682           -               17            -               
Darlington CCG -                -               129          501          

Dr D Graham
Director of Primary Care 
Development and Innovation Queen’s Road Surgery 1,566        -               91            -               

Dipton/Oakfields Surgery 1,292        -               95            -               
Oakfield Online Pharmacy 36             -               -               -               
Derwentside Healthcare Ltd 237           -               46            -               

E Herring                                         
Director of Nursing, Quality and 
Development

Tees Esk and Wear Valley (TEWV) NHS 
Foundation Trust 37,122      -               68            18            

Helen McCardle Care 280           -               -               -               
NHS DDES CCG 2               -               2,430       117          

Durham County Council 15,302      -               313          949          
TEWV NHS Foundation Trust 37,122      -               68            18            

M Kersley
Practice Manager Bowburn Medical Centre 464           -               50            -               

Bridge End Surgery 1,214        1              77            1              
Chester le Street Health Ltd 112           -               82            -               
Claypath Medical Group 2,711        -               204          -               

Durham County Council 15,302      -               313          949          
NHS DDES CCG 2               -               2,430       117          

Cestria Health Centre 1,920        -               109          -               
Chester le Street Health Ltd 112           -               82            -               
County Durham and Darlington (CDDFT) NHS 
Foundation Trust 147,554    -               1,939       405          

CDDFT 147,554    -               1,939       405          
NHS DDES CCG 2               -               2,430       117          

Dunelm Medical Practice 1,544        -               100          -               
GP Appraiser NHS England 1,322        24            -               -               
Central Durham GP Providers Ltd 237           -               -               -               
TEWV NHS Foundation Trust 37,122      -               68            18            
CDDFT 147,554    -               1,939       405          

Derwentside Healthcare Ltd 237           -               46            -               
Cedars Medical Group 864           -               63            -               

Central Durham GP Providers Ltd 237           -               -               -               
Dr P Wright Bowburn Medical Centre 464           -               50            -               
GP Constituency Lead Belmont and Sherburn Medical Group 1,170        -               65            -               

Dr J Levick
Director of Primary Care 
Development

G Findley
Director of Nursing

During 2015/16 the CCG undertook transactions with the following CCG Governing Body members or members of the key 
management staff, or parties related to any of them:

Dr A Galloway
Secondary Care Clinician

C Brown
Practice Nurse 

Dr I Davidson
Director of Quality and Safety

Dr D Smart
GP Constituency Lead / 
Chair

Dr C Anand
GP Constituency Lead

All of these transactions were undertaken under standard terms and conditions in the normal course of business.

L Jeavons
Durham County Council 

Dr R Lilly        
GP Constituency Lead

A Lynch
Director of Public Health

Dr N O'Brien
Chief Clinical Officer

J Whitehouse                                          
Lay Member
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21. Events after the end of the reporting period

22. Losses and special payments

There were no losses or special payments identified in 2016/17 (2015/16: none).

23. Financial performance targets

CCGs have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

The CCG's performance against those duties was as follows:

2016/17 2016/17 2015/16 2015/16
Target Performance Target Performance

Expenditure not to exceed income 387,068           377,578           380,246            374,494           
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions -                       -                       -                        -                       
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 387,068           377,578           380,246            374,494           
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions -                       -                       -                        -                       
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does 
not exceed the amount specified in Directions 33,765             31,500             32,812              32,083             
Revenue administration resource use does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions 5,441               5,160               5,676                5,149               

Performance against the revenue expenditure duties is further analysed below:

2016/17 2016/17 2016/17
Programme 

Resource
Administration 

Resource Total
£000 £000 £000

Revenue resource 381,627           5,441                387,068           
Net operating cost for the financial year 372,418           5,160                377,578           
Underspend against revenue resource 9,209               281                   9,490               

2015/16 2015/16 2015/16
Programme 

Resource
Administration 

Resource Total
£000 £000 £000

Revenue resource 374,570           5,676                380,246           
Net operating cost for the financial year 369,345           5,149                374,494           
Underspend against revenue resource 5,225               527                   5,752               

There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the CCG.

The CCG received no capital resource during 2016/17 and incurred no capital expenditure (2015/16: none).

During 2016/17, all CCGs were mandated by NHS England to hold 1% of their total funding allocation uncommitted as a ‘risk 
reserve’.  For North Durham CCG this equated to £3,738k.  In March 2017, NHS England confirmed that all CCGs were 
required to increase their surplus by the value of this risk reserve.  This has resulted in the increase in underspend against 
revenue resource in 2016/17 shown above.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING
BODY OF NHS NORTH DURHAM CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP

We have audited the financial statements of NHS North Durham Clinical
Commissioning Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 under the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014. The financial statements comprise the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement
of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes
1 to 23. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation
is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as
adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 2016/17 HM
Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual (“the 2016/17 FReM”) as contained in the
Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2016/17 and the Accounts Direction
issued by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the Secretary of State
as relevant to the National Health Service in England (“the Accounts Direction”).

We have also audited the information in the Remuneration and Staff Report that is
subject to audit, being:

· the table of salaries and allowances of senior officers on page 88 and related
narrative notes on pages 90 to 91;

· the table of pension benefits of senior officers on pages 93 to 94;

· the analysis of staff numbers on page 96; and

· the table of pay multiples and related narrative notes on page 92.

This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS North
Durham Clinical Commissioning Group in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014 and for no other purpose as set out in paragraph 43 of
the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public
Sector Audit Appointments Limited.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities set
out on page 54, the Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and is
also responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income. Our
responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s
Ethical Standards for Auditors.  We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the
regularity of expenditure and income in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice
prepared by the Comptroller and Auditor General as required by the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 (“the Code of Audit Practice”).



123

As explained in the Governance Statement, the Accountable Officer is responsible
for the arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of
the CCG’s resources. We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. Section
21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires that our report must
not contain our opinion if we are satisfied that proper arrangements are in place.

We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the
CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources are operating effectively.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.
This includes an assessment of:

· whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s circumstances
and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed;

· the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the
Accountable Officer; and

· the overall presentation of the financial statements.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual
Report and Accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial
statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect
based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course
of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements
or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have
been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions
conform to the authorities which govern them.

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice,
having regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller
and Auditor General in November 2016, as to whether the CCG had proper
arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed resources
to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The
Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to
consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG
put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness
in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017.
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We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice.  Based on our
risk assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a
view on whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources.

Opinion on regularity

In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the
financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and
the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.

Opinion on the financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements:

· give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS North Durham
Clinical Commissioning Group as at 31 March 2017 and of its net operating
costs for the year then ended; and

· have been properly prepared in accordance with the Health and Social Care
Act 2012 and the Accounts Direction issued thereunder.

Opinion on other matters

In our opinion:

· the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Annual Report Directions made
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and
Social Care Act 2012); and

· the other information published together with the audited financial statements
in the Annual Report and Accounts is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We are required to report to you if:

· in our opinion, the Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance
issued by the NHS Commissioning Board; or

· we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the
CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision
which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is
about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its
conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or

· we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014; or

· we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Local
Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or
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· we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the
year ended 31 March 2017.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Certificate

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS North Durham
Clinical Commissioning Group in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.

Nicola Wright
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP
Newcastle upon Tyne
25 May 2017

The maintenance and integrity of the NHS North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group web site is the
responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration of
these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have
occurred to the financial statements since they were initially presented on the web site. Legislation in the
United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.


	01. CCG Annual Report 2016-17 FINAL 230517
	02. Draft Annual Accounts 220517
	03. EY North Durham CCG Audit Report FINAL (with page numbers)

